
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

MEETING OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
Thursday, June 2, 2016 – 3:00 p.m. 

Isadore A. Shrager Boardroom – M2-01 
 

Table of Contents 
 

 
(1) Agenda         Pages 2-3 
  
 
(2) Proceedings and Minutes of Decisions and Resolutions 
    of the Meeting of May 5, 2016      Pages 4-13 
    
(3) Gifts and Grants        Pages 14-15 
       
(4) Minutes of the May 5, 2016 Student Outcomes Committee   Pages 16-78  
 
(5) Minutes of the May 23, 2016 Business Affairs Committee   Pages 79-90  
 
 

######## 

1



 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 

MEETING OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
AGENDA 

Thursday, June 2, 2016 – 3:00 p.m. 
Isadore A. Shrager Boardroom, M2-1 

 
(1) Executive Session 
 
(2) Meeting Called to Order 
 
(3) Report of the Business Affairs Committee 

 
(a) Presentation of 15th & Hamilton Street Development 

 
(4) Approval of Developer for the 15th & Hamilton Street Project  (A)    
 
(5) Report of the Student Outcomes Committee 
 
(6) Consent Agenda   
 

(a) Proceedings and Minutes of Decisions and Resolutions 
Meeting of May 5, 2016 

(b) Gifts and Grants  
(c) Academic Program Audit: Applied Science and  

Engineering Technology A.A.S.  
(d) Academic Program Audit: Technical Studies A.A.S.  

 
(7) Public Comment 
 
(8) Report of the Chair 
 

(a) Board Governance 
(b) Rescheduling of October 6, 2016 Board Meeting 
(c) Special Board Meeting for Approval of College Budget 

Thursday, June 30, 2016, 3:00 p.m., Isadore A. Shrager Boardroom 
 
(9) Nominating Committee for Board Officers 
 
(10) Foundation Report 
 
(11) Report of the President 
 

2



 
(12) New Business 
 
(13) Next Meeting:   Thursday, September 1, 2016 – 3:00 p.m. 
      Isadore A. Shrager Boardroom, M2-1 
 
Future Committee Meetings: 
 

Student Outcomes:    Thursday, June 2, 2016 
      1:30 p.m. – M2-34  
 
Audit Committee:    Monday, June 6, 2016    
      12:00 p.m. – Isadore A. Shrager Boardroom, M2-1 

 
Business Affairs:    Wednesday, June 22, 2016 
      10:00 a.m. – Isadore A. Shrager Boardroom, M2-1 
 

Upcoming Events 
 
 Foundation Annual Golf Classic  Monday, July 25, 2016 
       11:30 a.m. 
       Manufacturer’s Golf and Country Club   
       511 Dreshertown Road 
       Fort Washington, PA  
 
 46th Annual ACCT Leadership Congress October 5-8, 2016 
       New Orleans, LA 
 
 
 
                                                         ################## 

3



 
COMMUNITY COLLEGE OF PHILADELPHIA 

Proceedings of the Meeting of the Board of Trustees 
Thursday, May 5, 2016 – 3:00 p.m. 

 
Present: Ms. Biemiller, presiding; Mr. Bergheiser, Mr. Edwards, Ms. Hernández Vélez, 

Ms. Horstmann, Mr. Johnson, Mr. Lassiter, Dr. Rényi, Representative Roebuck, 
Ms. Sparandara, Ms. Tsai, Dr. Generals, Ms. de Fries, Ms. DiGregorio, Mr. 
Eapen, Dr. Gay, Dr. Hirsch, Mr. Murphy, and Ms. Zellers 

 
(1) Executive Session 
 
 The Executive Session was devoted to a discussion of labor, employment, and real estate 
matters. 
 
(2) Meeting Called to Order 
 
 Ms. Biemiller called the meeting to order.  She stated that this is a very busy time of the 
year for the College, and that she looked forward to seeing Board members at the 
Commencement Ceremony scheduled for Saturday, May 7, 2016. 
 
(3) Report of the Student Outcomes Committee 
 
 Dr. Rényi reported that there has been a tremendous amount of engagement by faculty 
and staff in the Pathways initiative.   She stated that the Health Care Studies and Liberals Arts 
programs, including a new First-Year Experience course, will be implemented in September for 
new incoming students.  Dr. Rényi stated that there will be many implementation activities 
during the summer.  She stated that programs will be mapped out and program clusters will be 
identified.   Dr. Rényi stated that technology to monitor students is being implemented to support 
the Pathways work.   
 
 Dr. Rényi congratulated Dr. Generals for his leadership in this effort as well as Drs. 
Hirsch and Gay for their work in moving the College forward and gaining engagement by faculty 
and staff. 
 
(4) Report of the Business Affairs Committee 
 
 Ms. Biemiller reported that the Committee is working on the College’s budget and other 
activities. 
 
(5) Consent Agenda 
 
 Ms. Biemiller requested approval of the following Consent Agenda: 
 

(a) Proceedings and Minutes of Decisions and Resolutions 
Meeting of April 7, 2016 

4



(b) Gifts and Grants 
(c) Academic Program Audit Respiratory Care Technology A.A.S. 
(d) Academic Program Audit Health Services Management A.A.  
(e) Recommendation to Close the A.A.S. Degree in Chemical Technology  
(f) Bid Results – Fixed Stair Replacement in West Building 
(g) Purchase of Classroom Furniture for ADA Requirements 
(h) Purchase of 52 Microscopes for Biology 
(i) Travel Policy 
(j) Accounts Receivable Write-Off 
(k) Recommended 2016-17 Course and Technology Fee Increases 
(l) Argos Reporting System 

 
Mr. Edwards moved, with Mr. Herzog seconding, that the Board approve the Consent 

Agenda.  The motion carried unanimously. 
 
(6) Public Comment 
 
 Ms. Biemiller reported that there were no requests for Public Comment. 
 
(7) Report of the Chair 
 
 Ms. Biemiller asked for a motion to approve modifications to the President’s contract as 
discussed in Executive Session. 
 
 Mr. Lassiter moved, with Mr. Armbrister seconding, that the Board approve the 
modifications.  The motion carried unanimously. 
 
 Ms. Biemiller thanked Dr. Generals for his extraordinary leadership, and stated that she 
was delighted to have him at the College. 
 
 Ms. Biemiller reported that the College hosted Dr. Karen Nelson, President of the J. 
Craig Venter Institute, on April 22, 2016.  She stated that the breakfast was very successful, and 
that  Dr. Nelson was featured on the spring 2016 issue of Pathways Magazine, which focused on 
STEM careers.  Ms. Biemiller noted that Mr. White had been instrumental in securing the visit of 
Dr. Nelson to the College.   
 
 Dr. Generals added that Dr. Nelson expressed interest in working with the College on a 
National Institute for Health grant and providing support to the College in its relationship with 
the Wistar Institute.   
 
(7a) Nominating Committee for Board Officers 
 
 Ms. Biemiller appointed the following Board members to the Nominating Committee for 
Board Officers: 
 
    Chad Lassiter   Chair 

5



    Lydia Hernández Vélez Member 
    Judith Rényi   Member 
 
 Ms. Biemiller circulated to members of the Board a copy of the Nominating Process for 
Board Officers.  She asked that nominations be forwarded to Mr. Lassiter by the June 2, 2016 
Board meeting. 
 
(7b) Board Governance 
 
 At the request of Ms. Biemiller, Mr. Armbrister reported that he and a number of fellow 
Board members have been working on Board governance.  He stated that the group will be ready 
to report at the June 2, 2016 Board meeting. 
 
(7c) Kensington Health and Science Academy 
 
 Ms. Biemiller reported that Mr. White had visited Kensington Health and Science 
Academy and had been very impressed with the school, and the number of students that are 
planning to attend the College.  She stated that Dr. Generals and Mr. White are scheduled to visit 
the school on June 16.   
 
(7d) Commencement Ceremony 
 
 Ms. Biemiller reported that Commencement is scheduled for Saturday, May 7, 2016 at 
10:00 a.m. at the Liacouras Center.  She stated that she was very excited that Ms. Desha Dyer, 
White House Social Secretary and former CCP student, was the speaker at the Ceremony.  Ms. 
Biemiller stated that she was extremely impressed with Ms. Dyer’s commitment to finishing her 
CCP degree online while working at the White House. 
 
(7e) Resolution of Appreciation 
 
 Ms. Biemiller reported that Ms. Sparandara has resigned from the Board of Trustees as 
she will be leaving the City for career and family reasons.  She stated that she has known and 
worked with Ms. Sparandara not only as a member of the Board but also while working for the 
City of Philadelphia.  Ms. Biemiller stated that it has been an honor to work with Ms. Sparandara 
both at the City and in other capacities.  She stated that Ms. Sparandara is a dedicated public 
servant who has made tremendous contributions to workforce development in the City of 
Philadelphia.  Ms. Biemiller read a Resolution of Appreciation acknowledging the contributions 
by Ms. Sparandara during her tenure as a member of the Board of Trustees. 
 
 Ms. Sparandara thanked the Board for the acknowledgement of her service and their good 
wishes.  She stated that while she is excited about the new opportunities awaiting her and her 
family, she leaves Philadelphia with a heavy heart.  Ms. Sparandara stated that she will be 
responsible for Global Philanthropy at J.P. Morgan and that in reviewing their portfolio, there 
may be opportunities that may appropriate for the College.  Ms. Sparandara stated that she leaves 
with a great knowledge of community colleges, and noted that it had been a pleasure to be part of 
the College’s Board of Trustees.   

6



 
(8) Foundation Report 

In addition to grants listed on the Gifts and Grants report, Mr. Murphy reported on the 
following gifts and grants: 

• $100,000 from the Goldman Gives Foundation as a match to the $100,000 that the 
College raised in private funds for the 50th Anniversary Scholarship; 
 

• $50,000 from the Pincus Family Foundation as a payment on a pledge to the 
Single Stop Program;  

 
• $20,000 from the West Philadelphia LISC (Local Initiatives Support Corporation) 

to add an academic mentor to an ongoing program the College is advancing with 
the Dornsife Center, Drexel University, and Goodwill Industries; and 

 
• $10,000 from the William M. King Family Foundation. We had hoped for a larger 

gift, but they encouraged us to submit next year as well. 

Mr. Murphy reported that the Alumni Association had its first fundraising event and 
raised $10,000 for the 50th Anniversary Scholarship Program. 

(9) Report of the President 

 Dr. Generals called attention to his memorandum in the Board folder which outlined the 
list of his activities during the month of April, and summarized the highlights.   

 Dr. Generals expressed his appreciation for the Board’s continued support.  He stated that 
it had been a good year working together to move the College forward. 

 Dr. Generals thanked Ms. Sparandara for her contributions to Board deliberations and the 
College during her tenure as a member of the Board of Trustees.  He wished her the best of luck, 
and thanked her for her support and the excitement she brought to the Board. 

(9a) Commencement Ceremony 

 At the request of Dr. Generals, Ms. Brown-Sow reviewed the logistics for the 
Commencement Ceremony scheduled for Saturday, May 7, 2016.  Members of the Board are 
asked to arrive at the Liacouras Center no later than 9:15 a.m.  VIP parking is available in the 
parking garage on Sydenham Street.  College staff will direct Board members to the Courtside 
Club where Trustees will be robed.  A continental breakfast will be available in the robing room. 

 Ms. Brown-Sow stated that Ms. Desha Dyer, speaker at Commencement, will join the 
Trustees at the Courtside Club, where photographs of the platform party will be taken. 

7



 Ms. Brown-Sow called the Board’s attention to the graduation website on the College’s 
staff page where graduating students were able to load their own video to talk about their 
experiences at the College and their future educational goals. 

(9b) Visit by Vice President Joe Biden and Dr. Jill Biden 

 Dr. Generals reported that the College hosted Vice President Joe Biden and Dr. Jill Biden 
on April 25, 2016.  Vice President Biden and Dr. Jill Biden came to the College to announce the 
Obama Administration grant which is making available $100 million to fund community college 
scholarships.  Dr. Generals stated that Board members who attended had the opportunity to meet 
and converse with Vice President Biden and Dr. Biden. 

 Ms. Brown-Sow stated that photographs taken at the event will be sent by the White 
House to her office.  She indicated that she would forward the photographs to members of the 
Board who attended the event. 

(9c) Strategic Planning Survey 

At the request of Dr. Generals, Dr. Gay stated that to validate some of the work of the 
priorities in the College’s vision, the Board will receive a strategic planning survey.  The survey 
will be an opportunity for the Board to provide feedback on the strategic planning process.  Dr. 
Gay stated that the survey was also sent to College faculty, staff, and administrators, and is also 
being sent to the Foundation Board.  Dr. Gay requested members of the Board to take the time to 
complete the survey. 

(9d) Year-End Events 

 Dr. Generals stated that most of the year-end events are focused on students.  However, 
the President’s Recognition Tea, which took place on May 4, acknowledges the work of College 
faculty and staff.  The President’s Awards were awarded at the Tea for the following categories:   
Civility and Collegiality; Service to the College; Commitment to Diversity; and Fostering 
Student Success.  Employee years of service were also acknowledged at this event.  Dr. Generals 
thanked Ms. Tsai for representing the Board at the event. 

 Dr. Generals reported that a number of faculty and staff retired this year.  Dr. Sharon 
Thompson, Associate Vice President for Strategic Initiatives, is retiring after 32 years of service 
to the College.  He stated that Dr. Thompson had assumed a number of positions at the College 
and always “stepped up” when needed.  Dr. Generals asked Dr. Thompson to stand and be 
recognized by the Board for her service and contributions to the College.   

 The Board acknowledged Dr. Thompson for her service to the College and wished her 
the best in her retirement. 

 

 

8



(9e) College Budget Hearing 

 Dr. Generals reminded members of the Board that the College’s Budget Hearing before 
City Council is scheduled for Tuesday, May 10, 2016 at 1:30 p.m. in City Hall, Room 400. 

(9f) October 6, 2016 Board Meeting 

 Dr. Generals reported that the October 6, 2016 Board of Trustees meeting conflicts with 
the Association of Community College Trustees Annual Congress.  He stated that he and several 
Board members attend the ACCT Congress.  Dr. Generals recommended that the date of the 
meeting be changed.  He stated that Ms. DiGregorio will poll members of the Board for an 
alternate Board meeting date in October. 

(10) New Business 

 No new business was discussed at the meeting. 

(11) Next Meeting 

 The next meeting of the Board of Trustees is scheduled for Thursday, June 2, 2016 at 
3:00 p.m. in the Isadore A. Shrager Boardroom, M2-1. 

 The meeting adjourned at 5:15 p.m. 

9



 
 

COMMUNITY COLLEGE OF PHILADELPHIA 
Meeting of the Board of Trustees 

Thursday, May 5, 2016 – 3:00 p.m. 
MINUTES OF DECISIONS AND RESOLUTIONS 

 
Present: Ms. Biemiller, presiding; Mr. Bergheiser, Mr. Edwards, Ms. Hernández Vélez, 

Ms. Horstmann, Mr. Johnson, Mr. Lassiter, Dr. Rényi, Representative Roebuck, 
Ms. Sparandara, Ms. Tsai, Dr. Generals, Ms. de Fries, Ms. DiGregorio, Mr. 
Eapen, Dr. Gay, Dr. Hirsch, Mr. Murphy, and Ms. Zellers 

 
(1) Executive Session 
 
 The Executive Session was devoted to a discussion of labor and real estate matters. 
 
(2) Meeting Called to Order 
 
 Ms. Biemiller called the meeting to order.   
 
(3) Report of the Student Outcomes Committee 
 
 Dr. Rényi reported on the progress made on the Pathways initiative. 
 
(4) Report of the Business Affairs Committee 
 
 Ms. Biemiller reported that the Committee is working on the College’s budget and other 
activities. 
 
(5) Consent Agenda 
 
 The Board approved the following Consent Agenda: 
 

(a) Proceedings and Minutes of Decisions and Resolutions 
Meeting of April 7, 2016 

(b) Gifts and Grants 
(c) Academic Program Audit Respiratory Care Technology A.A.S. 
(d) Academic Program Audit Health Services Management A.A.  
(e) Recommendation to Close the A.A.S. Degree in Chemical Technology  
(f) Bid Results – Fixed Stair Replacement in West Building 
(g) Purchase of Classroom Furniture for ADA Requirements 
(h) Purchase of 52 Microscopes for Biology 
(i) Travel Policy 
(j) Accounts Receivable Write-Off 
(k) Recommended 2016-17 Course and Technology Fee Increases 
(l) Argos Reporting System 

10



 
(6) Public Comment 
 
 There were no requests for Public Comment. 
 
(7) Report of the Chair 
 
 The Board approved modifications to the President’s contract.   
 
 The College hosted Dr. Karen Nelson, President of the J. Craig Venter Institute, on April 
22, 2016.   Dr. Nelson was featured on the spring 2016 issue of Pathways Magazine, which 
focused on STEM careers. 
 
(7a) Nominating Committee for Board Officers 
 
 The following Board members were appointed to the Nominating Committee for Board 
Officers: 
 
    Chad Lassiter   Chair 
    Lydia Hernández Vélez Member 
    Judith Rényi   Member 
 
 Nominations must be forwarded to Mr. Lassiter by the June 2, 2016 Board meeting. 
 
(7b) Board Governance 
 
 A report on Board Governance will be made by Mr. Armbrister at the June 2, 2016 Board 
meeting. 
 
(7c) Kensington Health and Science Academy 
 

Mr. White visited Kensington Health and Science Academy and had been very impressed 
with the school and the number of students that are planning to attend the College.  Dr. Generals 
and Mr. White are scheduled to visit the school on June 16.   
 
(7d) Commencement Ceremony 
 
 Commencement is scheduled for Saturday, May 7, 2016 at 10:00 a.m. at the Liacouras 
Center.   
 
(7e) Resolution of Appreciation 
 
 The Board presented Ms. Sparandara with a Resolution of Appreciation acknowledging 
her contributions to the Board during her tenure as a member of the Board of Trustees. 
 
 

11



(8) Foundation Report 

In addition to grants listed on the Gifts and Grants report, the Board was informed of the 
following gifts and grants: 

• $100,000 from the Goldman Gives Foundation as a match to the $100,000 that the 
College raised in private funds for the 50th Anniversary Scholarship; 
 

• $50,000 from the Pincus Family Foundation as a payment on a pledge to the 
Single Stop program;  

 
• $20,000 from the West Philadelphia LISC (Local Initiatives Support Corporation) 

to add an academic mentor to an ongoing program the College is advancing with 
the Dornsife Center, Drexel University and Goodwill Industries; and 

 
• $10,000 from the William M. King Family Foundation. 

The Alumni Association held its first fundraising event and raised $10,000 for the 50th 
Anniversary Scholarship program. 

(9) Report of the President 

 Dr. Generals called attention to his memorandum in the Board folder which outlined the 
list of his activities during the month of April, and summarized the highlights.   

 Dr. Generals expressed his appreciation for the Board’s continued support.  He stated that 
it had been a good year working together to move the College forward. 

 Dr. Generals thanked Ms. Sparandara for her contributions to Board deliberations and the 
College during her tenure as a member of the Board.  He wished her the best of luck, and 
thanked her for her support and the excitement she brought to the Board. 

(9a) Commencement Ceremony 

 At the request of Dr. Generals, Ms. Brown-Sow reviewed the logistics for the 
Commencement Ceremony scheduled for Saturday, May 7, 2016.   

(9b) Visit by Vice President Joe Biden and Dr. Jill Biden 

 The College hosted Vice President Joe Biden and Dr. Jill Biden on April 25, 2016.  Vice 
President Biden and Dr. Jill Biden came to the College to announce the Obama Administration 
grant which is making available $100 million to fund community college scholarships.   

 

 

12



(9c) Strategic Planning Survey 

The Board was informed of the Strategic Planning survey which they will be receiving to 
provide feedback on the strategic planning process.   

 (9d) Year-End Events 

 Dr. Generals discussed a number of year-end events, including the President’s 
Recognition Tea of May 4 where the President’s Awards were awarded and employee years of 
service were recognized.    

 The Board acknowledged Dr. Sharon Thompson, Associate Vice President for Strategic 
Initiatives, for her service to the College and wished her the best in her retirement. 

(9e) College Budget Hearing 

 The College’s Budget Hearing before City Council is scheduled for Tuesday, May 10, 
2016 at 1:30 p.m. in City Hall, Room 400. 

(9f) October 6, 2016 Board Meeting 

 Dr. Generals recommended that the date of the October Board meeting be changed as it 
conflicts with the Association of Community College Trustees Annual Congress.  Board 
members will be polled for an alternate date in October.  

(10) New Business 

 No new business was discussed at the meeting. 

(11) Next Meeting 

 The next meeting of the Board of Trustees is scheduled for Thursday, June 2, 2016 at 
3:00 p.m. in the Isadore A. Shrager Boardroom, M2-1. 

 The meeting adjourned at 5:15 p.m. 

13



14



15



 

STUDENT OUTCOMES COMMITTEE OF THE 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

 
MINUTES 

 
Thursday, May 5, 2016 

1:30pm 
Conference Room M2-34 

 
Presiding:  Dr. Rényi 
 
Present:  Mr. Armbrister, Ms. de Fries, Dr. Gay, Dr. Generals, Dr. Hirsch, Ms. Horstmann,  

Mr. Lassiter, Dr. Roberts, Rep. Roebuck, Jr. 
 
Guests: Ms. Dunston, Ms. Harter, Mr. Libros, Mr. Love, Ms. McDonnell, Ms. Sweet 
 
 
 
(1) Executive Session 
 
     No items were discussed. 
 
 (2) Public Session 
 

(a) Approval of the Minutes of April 7, 2016 
 

     The minutes were accepted unanimously. 
 

(b) Academic Program Audit: Applied Science and Engineering Technology A.A.S.   
 

Ms. Dunston, Director of Academic Assessment and Evaluation, provided an 
overview of the recommendations associated with the Applied Science and 
Engineering Technology (ASET) Audit. One such recommendation is also common 
to the Technical Studies Audit: to evaluate if the programs overlap and either clarify 
the distinction for students or have the programs overlap more effectively. Other 
recommendations specific to ASET related to changing the name of the degree to be 
more descriptive; tracking ASET students more effectively; and putting quality 
assessments in place. 
 
Mr. Armbrister asked to what the low completion rate can be attributed. Ms. Dunston 
responded that the stackable nature of the degree (it is really two certificates stacked 
to an associate’s degree) may contribute, but that some fixes are already underway, 
including mentoring students. Mr. Lassiter asked if the non-returning students had 
been asked why they had dropped out, which could be enriching data that could 
inform. Mr. Libros, Program Contact for Applied Science and Engineering 
Technology, said that this is not easy to do, although they have been working towards 

16



 

this with the Biomedical Equipment Technology certificates. Dr. Hirsch noted that 
the tracking system that the College is using would be able to do this. Dr. Generals 
commented that with non-select programs, tracking students is difficult but he looks 
forward to Guided Pathways which should help (especially with the FYE course). 
Rep. Roebuck asked if the ASET program was unique to the College or if it existed 
elsewhere. Mr. Libros was not sure but noted that Camden County has certificates 
which stack to an Engineering Technology degree (which several schools have). Ms. 
Dunston said that it is challenging to compare the ASET program to other programs 
but that they do want to evaluate the role of Workforce. Related to Workforce, Mr. 
Armbrister asked if the program has tried to identify industry partners. Mr. Libros 
replied that they are moving in that direction and said that the Biomedical Equipment 
Technology program has strong partnerships. Mr. Libros commented that the College 
is looking at Maritime Technology and Nanotechnology because companies have 
expressed interest in those areas. 
 
Action: The Student Outcomes Committee recommends that the audit be 
accepted and a follow-up report be submitted in December at which time the 
Committee will make a determination for renewal.   
 

(c) Academic Program Audit: Technical Studies A.A.S.   
 

Ms. Dunston remarked that the Technical Studies program underwent an audit and 
revisions at the same time as the ASET program and reiterated that both programs 
have the recommendation that they be clarified or overlap better. She stated that the 
program does need a program management plan. Ms. Dunston explained that the 
program is designed for students coming back into the workforce and that a higher 
level, more customized advising is needed. Because the structure is loose, more 
tracking and a stronger retention plan are therefore needed. Mr. Love, Department 
Head for Technical Studies, stated that the program has a lot of potential and that with 
the program management plan, they will be able to get more students into the 
program and keep them. Ms. Horstmann asked if they have a clear idea how to do 
this. Ms. Sweet, Dean of Liberal Studies commented that the program is broad and as 
such students may get overwhelmed. She stated that the program is in the Social 
Sciences, but that students often choose courses in other programs. She suggested that 
two areas be reviewed: if the program is in the right department, and if the general 
education curriculum should be looked at (to try to better match courses to students’ 
interests). Mr. Armbrister asked if the path is typically for transfer or for a job. Ms. 
Sweet responded that it is a career program and generally not a transfer program and 
mentioned that some students may change to a transfer program if they do decide to 
transfer to another institution. Mr. Armbrister asked that if students enter with a 
technical skill set, what does a student expect the value-added to be. Ms. Dunston 
responded that the result is credentialing, but that it is a challenge to see if the College 
is providing a path that aligns with the students’ interests and that this could be 
looked at more. Dr. Generals commented that the credentialing is why students come 
to this program so that their training is parlayed into college credit (this was recently 
done with steamfitters), and that the program is customizable, pulling together prior 

17



 

credit and prior learning. Mr. Armbrister remarked that this lends itself well to 
partnerships with industry and asked to what extent does the program have such 
relationships (both as a source for getting students and for students to go back to). 
Ms. Sweet noted steamfitters and carpenters and said they need to sharpen the 
students’ reasons for staying. The Committee discussed various aspects of the 
program’s curriculum: the program is very flexible/customizable; technical credits are 
awarded for prior learning; general education should be contextualized; and mapping 
as part of Guided Pathways will provide some clarification. The Committee also 
discussed areas to address, such as communicating with students, strengthening 
learning goals, setting targets for retention, and needing benchmarking. 
 
Action: The Student Outcomes Committee recommends that the audit be 
accepted and a follow-up report be submitted in December at which time the 
Committee will make a determination for renewal.   

 
(d) Pathways Project Second Institute Report  

Discussion Questions:  
• What were the outcomes?  
• What assistance can the Board provide?  

 
Dr. Hirsch discussed the recent Pathways Institute, which took place in April. The 
focus of the first Institute was leadership, while the focus of the second Institute was 
diving into the work, specifically developing maps. One of the speakers, Rob 
Johnstone, will be the keynote speaker for the College’s Fall Professional 
Development Week. Best practices and how to dive into the work were discussed at 
the Institute. In some regards, the College is ahead, but behind in others (some 
institutions previously had grants related to this). The group heard interesting ideas 
about getting faculty on board. Regarding the College’s current plans, there will be a 
summer institute for department heads. This will be comprised of three sessions. 
During the three sessions, the group will receive information and discuss concerns. 
They will then develop career clusters (such as health careers, STEM, 
arts/communications, manufacturing/technology, etc.) and determine which programs 
fall under each cluster. The next step is then the curriculum mapping, for which the 
College has a template. A purpose of mapping is to minimize potential loss of credits. 
For instance, after a number of courses, students have a choice of academic plans that 
they can then follow without losing credits. The department heads, with the 
curriculum coordinators, will determine what the first two semesters look like and 
what common courses within a cluster would be. Once the faculty return in the Fall, 
the College will get a consensus on the work done in the summer, as well has 
feedback from students. The process will not be linear. Dr. Rényi asked that the 
mapping template be shared with the Committee. 
 
Dr. Hirsch explained that the other piece the College is working on this summer is the 
developmental education component. The College will then be prepared for the next 
Pathways Institute in October, the focus of which is developmental education. In the 
summer a group of faculty will attend a workshop on contextualized learning. As 

18



 

well, a steering committee will be formed to guide this part of the work and a summer 
development institute will take place. The College is also refining its 
placement/assessment approaches, including using Accuplacer placement test and 
reviewing possible correlations with GPAs. A third component of Pathways is the 
intake process. The intake process will have to change to keep up with other changes 
resulting from Pathways.  
 
The College has already developed transition courses and will begin these in Fall 
2016. Revisions to Health Care Studies and Liberal Arts to include a required First 
Year Experience (FYE) course have already been approved. A goal of the FYE 
course is for students to leave the course with an individualized academic plan (done 
by semester), career/transfer plan and financial plan. With a new retention 
management system in place and new full-time advisors, the College will be well 
positioned to better monitor students. The programs also require that certain courses 
be taken within identified milestones. Dr. Rényi commented that the pace of such 
major changes has been phenomenal for an academic institution and that credit should 
be given to the College administration. 

 
(e) Strategic Plan Development   

Discussion Questions:  
• What are the strategies?  
• How are stakeholders being engaged?  

 
Dr. Gay and Dr. Hirsch provided a handout to the Committee. Dr. Rényi asked at what 
stage and how does the Board get fully engaged in the strategic planning process that 
is constructive. Dr. Gay replied that a survey will be sent to Board members and 
Foundation Board members.  
 
The big push currently is to get input from students and faculty since they leave 
immediately after the semester ends. The College sent a mission survey to students the 
previous week and immediately had 100 responses. Another survey was sent out this 
week and there were already 52 responses. This compares favorably to the last 
strategic planning surveys, which had a total of 92 responses. Faculty, staff, and 
administrators are another group, thought of as the builders and drivers. There have 
been several Forums, the last of which was April 28th. Dr. Generals has met with each 
of the regional center’s communities, for which there was a good turnout. A topic 
raised was that in regard to Workforce, the College should be more dominant in the 
community. The timeline is very tight, so strategic planning items were added to other 
communications going out. Dr. Generals commented that for the Fall, a half-day Board 
retreat should be scheduled.  

 
(3) Next Meeting 
 

The next meeting of the Student Outcomes Committee of the Board is scheduled for June 
2, 2016 at 1:30 pm in Conference Room M2-34. 
 

19



 

 
Attachments:  

Minutes of April 7, 2016  
Academic Program Audit: Applied Science and Engineering Technology A.A.S. 
Academic Program Audit: Technical Studies A.A.S. 
Update on Strategic Planning Memorandum 
Pathways Project Program Map Template 

 

20



STUDENT OUTCOMES COMMITTEE OF THE  
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

 
MINUTES 

 
Thursday, April 7, 2016 

1:30 p.m. 
West Regional Center, Room 136 

 
 
Presiding:    Dr. Rényi 
 
Present:   Ms. de Fries, Dr. Gay, Dr. Generals, Ms. Hernández Vélez, Dr. Hirsch, Ms. 

Horstmann (by phone) 
 
Guests:  Dr. Celenza, Ms. Dunston, Mr. Geissinger, Ms. Harter, Ms. McDonnell, Ms. Rossi, 

Ms. Sweet 
 
(1) Executive Session 

 
 The committee discussed faculty candidates for promotion. 
 
(2) Public Session 
 

(a) Approval of the Minutes of March 3, 2016 
 

 The minutes were accepted unanimously. 
 

(b) Program Audit Follow-Up Report - Music Performance, Sound Recording 
and Music Technology & Music Non-Performance 

 
Mr. Geissinger, new Department Head of Music and Ms. Sweet, new Dean of Liberal 
Studies were introduced.  Dr. Rényi explained that the report is a brief interim follow up 
as requested by the Committee at the September 3, 2015 committee meeting. Mr. 
Geissinger reviewed the Program Audit Follow-Up Report for the Music Performance, 
Sound Recording and Music Technology & Music Non-Performance Programs. He 
highlighted the progress made to date on the audit recommendations including: closing 
of the Music Non-Performance Program; increased outreach efforts to high schools; 
revision of program entrance requirements; program assessment efforts including 
progress being made on course revisions; and meeting enrollment targets. Dr. Rényi was 
complimentary of the progress made on the recommendations and expressed 
appreciation for the work that is taking place in the Music Department. 

 
Dr. Rényi reminded Mr. Geissinger and Ms. Sweet that a full progress report is expected 
by September 2016 at which time a decision will be made regarding recertifying the 
programs.  

 

21



(c) Academic Program Audit Respiratory Care Technology A.A.S 
 

Dr. Rényi stated that while the audit process is being modified the Committee would be 
reviewing the academic audits in the existing format.  
 
Ms. Dunston, Director of Academic Assessment and Evaluation, provided an overview 
of the recommendations associated with Respiratory Care Audit. The recommendations 
focus on: assessment, reviewing the guidelines of the Advisory Committee, encouraging 
students to sit for the RRT exam, and completing the course revisions that are in 
progress. 

 
Ms. Hernández Vélez asked if students in the program are already working in the field. 
Ms. Rossi, Department Head for Allied Health, responded that students in the program 
are not working in the respiratory field and that some are change-of-career students. Dr. 
Rényi inquired on the status of the course revisions. Ms. Rossi responded that the 
program revision is complete, ten new program learning outcomes have been approved, 
and three courses have been revised with the remaining course revisions to be completed 
within the year.  

 
Action:  The Student Outcomes Committee recommends that the Board of 
Trustees accept the Respiratory Care Program Audit with approval for five years. 
In addition, the Committee requires a follow-up report by December 2016 on the 
status of the course revisions.   

 
(d) Academic Program Audit Health Services Management A.A. 

 
Ms. Dunston reviewed the findings and recommendations in the audit. The 
recommendations include: focus on improving transfer opportunities, recruitment, 
retention, assessment, and completing the program revision. She highlighted that since 
the audit was completed the program revision has taken place and has gone through the 
College’s approval process.  Ms. Rossi noted that the program learning outcomes in the 
audit document are not correct.  Since the program revision has been approved and will 
be implemented in Fall 2016, the new assessment plan for the program learning 
outcomes is being implemented.  Focus is taking place on how the program learning 
outcomes integrate with the student learning outcomes at the course level. The 
Committee discussed the need for alignment with program measurable objectives.  

 
Action:  The Student Outcomes Committee recommends that the Board of 
Trustees accept the Health Services Management Program Audit with approval for 
five years. In addition, the Committee requires a follow-up report by December 
2016 on the status of the assessment of the program learning outcomes.   

  
(e) Recommendation to Close the A.A.S. Degree in Chemical Technology 

 
Ms. Harter, Associate Professor in the Chemistry Department, provided an overview of 
the rationale for recommending the closure of the A.A.S. degree in Chemical 

22



Technology. The reasons include: the creation of the A.S. degree in Chemistry (effective 
Fall 2016) creating an overlap in the core course requirements for both the Chemistry 
Degree and the Chemical Technology Degree; employment opportunities for graduates 
with an Associate in Applied Science degree within the chemical industry are extremely 
limited; and technicians are not on the 2015 High-Priority Occupations List for the 
Philadelphia County Workforce Investment Area.  

 
Action:  The Student Outcomes Committee recommends that the Board of 
Trustees accept the recommendation to close the A.A.S. degree in Chemical 
Technology effective fall 2016.  

 
(f) Workforce Development Report  

Discussion Questions: 
• How can we make the College top of mind with employers, the City, and other civic 

entities when discussing training needs? 
• Are there additional partners we should be including? 
• How can the Board serve as city-wide ambassadors to identify key business and 

industry contacts? 
 

Dr. Rényi stated that she would like for the Committee to have a more in-depth 
discussion of the workforce agenda when additional Board members can participate. 
She would like to focus on the question of how Board members can be engaged to 
participate in assisting the College with forming relationships with additional strategic 
business partners. She asked that a list be created of individuals or categories of 
businesses that the College wishes to engage in a partnership. Dr. Rényi will then follow 
up with Board members.  

 
(3) Next Meeting 
 

The next meeting of the Student Outcomes Committee of the Board is scheduled for May 5, 
2016 at 1:30 p.m. in Conference Room M2-34.  

 
 
Attachments: 

Minutes of March 3, 2016 
Program Audit Follow-Up Report Music Performance, Sound Recording and Music 

Technology & Music Non-Performance 
Academic Program Audit Respiratory Care Technology A.A.S.  
Academic Program Audit Health Services Management A.A. 
Recommendation to Close the A.A.S. Degree in Chemical Technology 
Workforce Development Report 

 

23



Community College of Philadelphia 
 
 

Academic Program Audit 
 
 

Applied Science and Engineering Technology A.A.S. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Author: Christine 
McDonnell Krishna 

Dunston 
 

Contributor: 
Randy Libros 

 
 
 

Date: November, 2015 

24



 

I. Executive Summary 
The Applied Science and Engineering Technology program prepares students for employment in 
various areas of scientific technology occupations (according to the course catalog). Currently, 
the program focuses specifically on Biomedical Equipment and Process Technology. The most 
recent program revision took place in 2014 and took effect in the fall of 2015.*1

 

 
The Program enrolls students with similar demographics as the Division and the College in terms 
of age and level of college readiness. Differences exist in terms of the high proportion of males, 
high proportion of African American students (lower proportion of Caucasian and Latino/a), and 
higher proportion of full-time students. 

 
The Program retains 64.4% of students from fall to spring, and 26.2% from one fall to the next. 
Between fall and spring 11.7% of students return to the College but change programs, and from 
one fall to the next 14.1% of student change programs.  Of the students that depart the 
program, 2.2% leave with a degree and 42% leave with a GPA below 2.0 or having never 
completed a college level course. Looking at the courses in the Program, the course completion 
rate is 85%. 

 
Four degrees were awarded between 2010 and 2014. Between 2009 and 2013, 56 students left 
the program. Forty-three of these students left with 12 credits or less. 

 
ASET courses have run at 69% of capacity in the fall and 66% in the spring. 

 
Assessment of the first PLO is complete and assessment of the remaining four PLOs will be 
completed in the spring of 2016. In response to assessment, the Program has evaluated 
benchmarks, utilized industry training videos, introduced clearer directions with a clearer 
structure defined, incorporated modeling of different aspects of the final project into the class, 
and clarified expectations of students regarding the final project. As part of the College’s 
developing assessment plan, faculty should edit the current program curricular map to indicate 
where outcomes are being introduced, reinforced, mastered or assessed. This will clarify where 
assessment is supposed to occur. A focused evaluation of the program map revealed that 
students may be able to select a path through the curriculum in which they may not be asked to 
demonstrate proficiency in all program outcomes. 

 
The ASET Program prepares graduates to enter the fields of Industrial Engineering Technology 
and Medical Equipment Repair. Locally, regionally, and nationally, careers in these areas are 
projected to grow over the next ten years. In Philadelphia, jobs in industrial engineering 
technology and medical equipment repair are projected to grow at approximately twice the rate 
of jobs nationwide. The majority of industrial engineering technician and medical equipment 
repair jobs are filled by people with some college or an associate’s degree. The growth and the 
level of education both speak to the importance of offering these programs at the associate’s 
level. 

 
 
 

1 The primary investigation and evaluation period for this audit is Spring 2015. The audit does reference some 
program changes or projects on-going in Fall 2015, but the bulk of the report, including environmental scan 
demographic data and analysis of assessment reporting was conducted last academic year. 

25



 

Locally, colleges offer programs in Engineering Technology, Process Technology, and 
Biomedical Equipment Repair. However, unlike the ASET Program, other institutions 
surveyed frequently differentiate between engineering technology programs and career 
programs and do not combine them into one degree option. “Engineering Technology,” 
does encompass a broad discipline. Given that, it is problematic to align the ASET curriculum 
with engineering technology curricula offered at other institutions. Frequently, engineering 
technology programs have a broader curriculum that requires students to take a variety of 
courses in engineering, physics, and math. The program believes these distinctions are 
clarified for CCP students as part of the advising process. 

 
The Program required significant startup resources for PTEC and BMET courses, which were 
funded by the College, the NSF, and Department of Labor grants. The Program has a flexible 
design in which certificates can be created in order to meet student and industry needs. 
Resources such as specialized equipment for proficiency certificate tracks have been funded 
through external grants; requiring faculty to balance a dual role in program and grant 
management. The current NSF grant includes funds for recruitment and student mentorship 
for the aligned Proficiency Certificate in Biomedical Equipment Technology. The current 
grant’s sustainability plan calls for lab equipment to be maintained through continued 
donation, resource sharing with other CCP Allied Health programs, and capital budget 
request. 

 
In 2014, both the ASET and Technical Studies programs underwent revisions which created 
overlap between the two programs. Both revisions include a block of credits that could be 
used for prior learning; ASET allows students to transfer up to 15 credits into this block, 
while Technical Studies allows students to transfer between 12 and 30 credits into this 
block. Technical Studies also added a 6-24 credit Personal Education Plan with a focus in 
either Technology or Business. The technology focus could incorporate classes from ASET. 
Additionally, some of the relationships forged with local unions or industry could be utilized 
by both programs. 

 
II. Program Description 

A.   Description from the College Catalog 
The Applied Science and Engineering Technology program prepares students for 
employment in a range of scientific technology occupations and also provides a foundation 
for transfer to four-year technology programs. The flexible design of the program allows 
students to choose from a range of scientific technology fields, including biomedical 
equipment technology, engineering technology and process technology, among others. 

 
The program includes a set of courses required of all students and gives students the 
opportunity to select specialized courses in a particular field of interest, leading to a 
proficiency certificate in a specialized field. Some students may initially opt to finish a 
proficiency certificate without completing the degree in order to directly enter the 
workforce. Students who do so and who later decide to pursue the associate’s degree will 
have a seamless transition to the degree program, since most credits earned through the 
proficiency certificate will also count toward the degree itself. 

26



 

B.   History and Revisions to the Curriculum 
The Program was revised in 2014 and the revision took effect in the fall of 2015. The revision 
consists of a series of changes to the existing program intended to provide students with a 
better pathway to employment and/or transfer. The changes include: 

• Prior non-credit learning to be used to fulfill program requirements with a block of 
15 credits incorporated to the Program that can be fulfilled by a combination of 
industry certifications, documented competencies, and /or directed electives. 

• The creation of the Biomedical Equipment Technology (BMET) proficiency 
certificates. 

• The Biology and English 117 course requirements were deleted. 
• The Biotechnology PC and the Biomedical Technician Proficiency Certificates were 

moved into the Biology Degree and subsequently closed by the Biology Department. 
• The list of directed electives has been modified and some courses that were 

directed electives have become program requirements; consequently, the list of 
directed electives has been modified. 

• As a result of these changes there was a two-credit increase in the number of 
credits required for graduation 

• The ASET program was originally housed in the Biology Department, but now the 
Program is located in the Physics Department. 

 
A series of changes were made with the intention of providing students with a better 
pathway to employment and/ or transfer and to provide an opportunity for prior non-credit 
learning to be used to fulfill program requirements. The Program currently provides 
students with two pathways: Biomedical Engineering Technology or Process Technology. 
Two certificates are offered in each area: Biomedical Equipment Technician Proficiency 
Certificate I, Biomedical Equipment Technician Proficiency Certificate II, Process Technology 
I Proficiency Certificate, and Process Technology II Proficiency Certificate. 

27



 

 

 
C. Curriculum Sequence 

 

Course Number and Name Pre & Co-requisites Credits Gen Ed Req. 
First Semester 
FNMT 118 - Intermediate Algebra or higher*  3 Mathematics 
ASET 101 - Science, Technology and Public Policy or BMET 101 BMET: BIOL 108 pre or co requisite 3 or 4 Science 

Directed Electives [Prior Learning Assessment may be applied]**  15  
Second Semester 
ENGL 101 - English Composition I  3 Composition 
CIS 103 - Applied Computer Technology  3 Tech Comp 
ELEC 120 - DC and AC Circuits FNMT 118 or MATH 118 pre or co- requisite 4  
PTEC 103 - Introduction to Process Technology and Plant 
Equipment 

FNMT 118 or MATH 118 ready & CHEM 110 for PTEC 103 4  

or BMET 102 - Introduction to Biomedical Equipment Repair 
Technology II 

BMET 101 for BMET 102   

Third Semester 
ENGL102 - The Research Paper ENGL 101 "C" or better 3 ENGL 102, Info 

Lit 
ELEC 130 - Digital Electronics or ELEC 125 - Semiconductor Devices ELEC 120 4  
CHEM 110 - Introductory Chemistry or higher* FNMT 118 or MATH 118 ready and ENGL 101 ready 4 Science 
ASET 110 - Safety, Health and the Environment or BMET 201- 
Medical Devices 

BMET 103: BMET 201 3 or 4  

Humanities – Elective  3 Humanities 
Fourth Semester 
PHYS 105 - Survey of Physics or higher*  4  
ASET 130 - Quality Control Quality Assurance ASET 130: FNMT 118 or MATH 118 3 or 4  
or BMET 202 - Medical Devices in a Networked Environment BMET 201: BMET 202, ELEC 130 and, CIS 150 "C" or better   
Social Science – Elective  3 Social Sciences 

Minimum Credits Needed to Graduate:  62  
*Qualified students, especially those interested in transfer to a 4-year Engineering Technology program, are encouraged to take higher level courses in Math, 
Physics and Chemistry. 
** Students may submit industry certifications and/or other proof of prior learning for credit consideration. 

28



 

 
D. Curriculum Map 

 

The following table demonstrates how learning activities in specific courses map to these program learning outcomes. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Required Courses 

Programmatic Student Learning Outcomes 
Demonstrate 
foundational 
knowledge in at 
least one 
technology field 

Demonstrate 
laboratory skills in 
basic science and 
technology areas 

Demonstrate an 
understanding of the 
interplay between 
scientific 
information and 
public policy and 
standards 

Present technical 
information in oral, 
written or graphic 
format 

Work effectively as 
part of a team 

ASET  101   * *  
B:\ifET 101 • *    
ELEC 120 • *    
PTEC 103 •     
B:\ifET 102   • * * 
CHEM 110  *    
ASET  130     * 

29



 

E. Advisory Committee 
Recent ASET meeting discussions have focused on the local industry, students’ math 
background, marketing the program to students, industry requirements for jobs (associates 
versus bachelors), an articulation agreement with Drexel University, and other possible 
certificates that the program could offer. Additionally, the Advisory Committee discussed the 
Mayor’s taskforce on manufacturing, Philadelphia School District’s Center for Advanced 
Manufacturing (Ben Franklin High School), local jobs, placement tests, the proportion of 
developmental students, the civil servant test for Philadelphia Water Department jobs, the age 
bubble at Monroe Energy (average age 57 years), graduates’ interviewing skills, internships, the 
possible creation of an engineering and design course, paid internships, and the possible 
expansion into other industry clusters. The ASET program is further supported by an active 
advisory board for the proficiency certificate in Biomedical Equipment Technology (BMET); who 
are specifically evaluating and advising on curricular development. 

 
F. Future Directions of the Field/Program 
Opportunities in the technical fields are changing and growing due to economic improvement, 
innovations in technology and the aging workforce. In order to address emerging opportunities, 
the program offers proficiency certificates that provide students with knowledge and skills in a 
specialized area through credit courses, which also apply toward the AAS degree. Some areas of 
concentration could include maritime technology, food and beverage processing, and 
nanotechnology based on available resources. The College was recently included as a partner on 
an NSF grant to explore and potentially develop a nanotechnology certificate program as part of 
the ASET program, in conjunction with the Sigh Center for Nanotechnology and the University of 
Pennsylvania. 

 
III. Profile of the Faculty 

A.   Program Faculty 
Faculty Position Courses Taught 
Randy Libros Program Director, 

Associate Professor 
Science, Technology and Public Policy 
(ASET 101) 
Introduction to Process Technology 
(PTEC 101) 

Kathleen Harter Associate Professor Science, Technology and Public Policy 
(ASET 101) 

William Eisen Adjunct Quality Assurance/Quality Control (ASET 
130) 
PTEC 102/103 

Linda Gerz Adjunct Health, Safety and the Environment 
(ASET 110) 
Science, Technology and Public Policy 
(ASET 101) 

Edward Snyder Adjunct Biomedical Equipment Technology I 
(BMET 101) 

Note: There are no faculty members assigned full time to the program. All faculty who teach ASET or 
related certificate courses, both full time and part time, have primary assignments either in the 
Physics Department or the Chemistry Department. 

30



 

Table 1: Headcounts  

 Fall Fall Fall Fall Fall 5 Year 5 Year 
 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 Average Change 

 

IV. Program Characteristics 
A.   Student Profile 
Since the Applied Science and Engineering Technology Program opened in 2009, enrollment 
has been steadily increasing each fall. In the fall of 2013, enrollment was 63 students. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Applied Services & Headcount 
Engineering Technology FTE Headcount 

5 17 32 50 63 
4 15 22 33 43 

33 
23 

1160% 
975% 

Math, Science, and Headcount 
Health Careers FTE Headcount 

6188 6637 6912 6702 6857 
4339 4701 4796 4651 4762 

6,659 
4,650 

11% 
10% 

College 
Headcount 
FTE Headcount 

19047 19502 19752 18951 19065 
13361 13697 13682 13106 13163 

19,263 
13,402 

0% 
-1% 

31



 

The Applied Science and Engineering Technology is one of four programs in the Division that 
is non-select (Culture, Science and Technology, Health Services Management (HSVM)2, 
Chemical Technology, and ASET), the other 9 programs are all select. When making 
comparisons between students in the ASET Program and the MSH Division, one should keep 
in mind that the select programs in the Division have higher standards for acceptance. The 
Applied Science and Engineering Technology Program enrolls students with similar 
demographics as the Division and the College in terms of age and level of college readiness. 
Some differences exist in gender, race/ethnicity, and full-time status. The program enrolls 
approximately three times the proportion of males compared to the Division and the 
College; however, approximately 91% of medical equipment repairers are male and 83% of 
industrial engineering technicians are male. Approximately 10% more students in the 
Program are African American compared to the Division and College, while 7.5% fewer 
students in the Program are Caucasian. The Program records a higher proportion of students 
enrolled full-time than the Division and the College. 

 
Table 2: Demographics: Running 5 Year Average 

 ASET MSH College 
Female 

Male 
Unknown 

23.6% 74.8% 64.2% 
76.4% 24.9% 35.4% 
0.0% 0.3% 0.5% 

  
Native American 

Asian 
African American 

Latino/a 
Multiracial 

Pacific Islander 
Unknown 
Caucasian 

1.2% 0.3% 0.4% 
9.1% 8.5% 7.3% 

57.8% 48.0% 48.8% 
8.5% 10.1% 10.5% 
3.3% 2.1% 2.3% 
0.0% 0.3% 0.2% 
3.3% 6.4% 6.8% 

16.7% 24.2% 23.8% 
  

16 – 21 
22 – 29 
30 – 39 

40 + 
Unknown 

29.1% 29.7% 32.5% 
43.5% 38.6% 36.6% 
17.5% 20.5% 17.0% 
8.8% 10.5% 13.0% 
1.2% 0.7% 0.9% 

  
Full Time 

Part Time 
35.0% 27.6% 31.2% 
65.0% 72.4% 68.8% 

  
All Developmental 

Some Developmental 
College Level 

30.3% 32.9% 28.3% 
48.0% 45.4% 43.9% 
21.7% 21.8% 27.8% 

 
 

2 HSVM has been non-select from its inception until spring 2016; the Program will become select in the fall of 2016, 
per the approval of the March 2016 program revision. (Health Care Studies has been revised to become non-select 
and the Chemical Technology Program has been closed) 

32



 

 Applied Science & Math, Science, & 
Engineering Technology Health Careers College 

Good Standing 
Probation 
Dropped 

81% 86% 85.0% 
18% 13% 13.5% 
1% 1% 1.6% 

  

Returned/Same 
Returned/Different 
Graduated 
Did Not Return 

64.4% 70.5% 65.8% 
11.7% 3.6% 5.2% 
0.6% 1.5% 2.1% 

23.3% 24.4% 26.9% 
  

Returned/Same 
Returned/Different 
Graduated 
Did Not Return 

26.2% 36.7% 36.7% 
14.1% 8.6% 8.6% 
4.6% 8.4% 8.4% 

55.2% 46.4% 46.4% 
  

Graduated 
Long Term Success 
Short Term Success 
Unsuccessful 

2.2% 10.0% 10.0% 
38.9% 38.8% 36.2% 
16.1% 13.9% 17.2% 
42.8% 37.3% 36.6% 

  

Course Completion 
GPA 

85.3% 89.5% 88.2% 
2.53 2.63 2.65 

 

The Applied Science and Engineering Program records weaker outcomes than that of the 
Division and the College in most areas. The Program records a higher rate of students on 
probation and a lower rate of students in good academic standing compared to the Division 
and the College. Students leave the school and the Program at a higher rate than the 
Division and the College. A lower proportion of students depart the Program due to 
graduation and a higher proportion of students depart unsuccessfully compared to the 
Division and the College. The Program records a lower course completion rate than the 
Division and the College, and the average GPA of students in the Program is marginally 
lower than the average GPA across the College and Division. 

 
Table 3: Outcomes Data: 5 Year Averages (Fall 2010- Spring 2014) 

 
 
 
 
 

Standing 
 
 
 
 
 

Fall-Spring 
Retention 

 
 
 
 
 

Fall-Fall 
Retention 

 
 
 
 
 

Success at 
Departure 

 
 
 
 

Course 
Outcomes 

“Graduated” are students who earned certificates or associates degrees at the College. “Long term success” is 
defined as departure with a GPA of 2.0 or greater and 12 or more cumulative credit hours earned. “Short term 
success” is defined as departure with a GPA of 2.0 or greater and 11 or fewer cumulative credit hours earned. The 
“unsuccessful” departure group includes all departing students not otherwise classified including students who 
never complete a college-level course. 

33



 

Transfer and Graduation 
Applied Science and Engineering Technology is an A.A.S. and, therefore, the focus of this 
program is direct-to-work as opposed to transfer. Looking at the students who entered the 
Program between the fall of 2009 and the spring of 2013, approximately 34% of Applied 
Science and Engineering Technology students who departed transferred. 

 
Among students who entered the Program between 2009 and 2013, 74 students departed. 
The majority (64%) of those students departed with less than twelve credits (count of 47). 
Of those former students, 34%(count of 25) transferred. Four students graduated from the 
Program between 2010 and 2014. 

 
Table 4: Degrees Awarded 

 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 Total 
Applied Science & Engineering Technology 
Math, Science, and Health Careers 
College 

- - 3 0 1 
594 617 705 713 709 

1908 1949 2101 2039 2246 

4 
3947 

12368 
 

Figure 1: Transfer at Departure 
 
 
 
Exit Status 

Transferred 
 

Count Percent 

Did Not Transfer 
 

Count Percent 

Total Count of 
Departing 
Students 

Graduate 
Earned 45 or more credits 
Earned 24 to 44 credits 
Earned 12 to 23 credits 
Earned less than 12 credits 
Grand Total 

4 67% 
2 29% 
5 56% 
0 0% 

14 30% 
25 34% 

2 33% 
5 71% 
4 44% 
5 100% 

33 70% 
49 66% 

6 
7 
9 
5 

47 
74 

34



 

The College and Division record almost equal proportions of freshmen and sophomores. 
However, within the Applied Science and Engineering Technology Program, there are 18% 
more freshmen than sophomores. This could be explained by the program being new, the 
population increasing and/or by students not passing gatekeeper courses. 

 
Figure 2: Distribution of Students in Program 

 

Distribution of Students in Program 
 

100% 
 

80% 
 

60% 
 

40% 
 

20% 

 
 
32% 
 
 
 
50% 

 
 
 
45% 43% 
 
 
 
43% 45% 

18% 12% 12% 
0% 

ASET MSHC College 
 

Developmental Freshman Sophomore 
 

 
 

On average, the Applied Science and Engineering Program runs approximately 3.5 sections 
per semester, with average enrollments of approximately 25 students during the fall and 22 
in the spring semester. On average, fall sections are at 69% of capacity and spring sections 
run at 66% of capacity. These capacities are 19% lower than the Division (16% lower than 
the College) in the fall and 22% lower than the Division (18% lower than the College) in the 
spring. (See table on page 7) 

35



 

 

 
Table 5: Section Enrollments- Applied Science & Engineering Technology 

 
 Fall 

2009 
Spring 
2010 

Fall 
2010 

Spring 
2011 

Fall 
2011 

Spring 
2012 

Fall 
2012 

Spring 
2013 

Fall 
Average 

Spring 
Average 

 
 

Program 
Sections 4 6 4 2 3 3 3 3 3.50 3.50 

Avg Enrollment 22.50 17.67 27.00 

75% 

21.50 23.00 

64% 

25.67 27.33 

76% 

21.67 24.96 21.63 

Percent Filled 63% 74% 60% 71% 60% 69% 66% 
 
 
Division 

Sections 
Avg Enrollment 
Percent Filled 

972 
22.14 
89% 

1043 
21.53 
88% 

993 
22.16 
88% 

893 
22.25 
88% 

962 
22.06 
89% 

973 
21.72 
87% 

930 
22.06 
88% 

836 
22.40 
88% 

957.60 
21.97 
88% 

938.40 
21.78 
88% 

 
 
College 

Sections 
Avg Enrollment 
Percent Filled 

2881 
22.29 
87% 

3096 
21.97 
86% 

3023 
21.87 
85% 

2940 
22.13 
85% 

2939 
21.84 
84% 

3007 
21.63 
83% 

2756 
22.23 
86% 

2738 
22.06 
84% 

2858.60 
21.88 
85% 

2922.00 
21.80 
84% 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

36



 

V. Learning Outcomes and Assessment 
A.   Student Learning Outcomes 

Upon completion of the Applied Science and Engineering Technology program, 
graduates will be able to: 
1. Demonstrate foundational knowledge in at least one technology field 
2. Demonstrate laboratory skills in basic science and technology areas 
3. Demonstrate an understanding of the interplay between scientific information and 

public policy and standards 
4. Present technical information in oral, written or graphic format 
5. Work effectively as part of a team 

 
B.   Assessment 
The Program has completed assessment for PLO #1 and had assessed some measures of the 
other four PLOs. The full cycle of assessment is scheduled to be completed by spring of 
2016. In response to assessment, the Program has evaluated benchmarks, utilized industry 
training videos, introduced clearer directions with a clearer structure defined, incorporated 
modeling of different aspects of the final project into the class, and clarified expectations of 
students regarding the final project. 

 
A few issues were noted in the way that faculty carry out assessment. First, the Program’s 
curricular plan includes a choice of pathways. However, the curriculum map does not 
provide clear evidence that, as an individual makes course selections, the program has 
ensured introduction and practice to every program outcome. Additionally, the curriculum 
map does not indicate where outcomes are introduced, reinforced, mastered, and assessed. 
The program should edit the curriculum map so that the document maps the pathways 
equally. Second, summarizing assessment activities, the program faculty state that they 
have made changes but do not describe the specific changes.  For example, PLO #3 was 
assessed in the fall of 2015, program faculty state that, “Changes implemented during the 
Spring 2015 semester based upon data from the previous semester appears to have had a 
positive impact, though the outcome this semester was more aligned to the outcomes of 
the Fall 2012 and Fall 2013 semesters. We will continue to monitor the outcome and 
consider increasing the benchmark to 75%.” Future assessments should be more specific as 
to the type of program changes that are being made to address assessment results.  Third, 
the program faculty state that assessment results pertain to a course in a different 
department and since the course is in a different department faculty are unable to directly 
change the practices in the course even though the course is an important means to 
assessing the PLO. The action plans should address how they plan to overcome this 
challenge. The Program is using a final lab grade (indirect measure) to assess the outcome, 
because the course is not housed within the ASET Program. Lastly, the program faculty 
noted that overall students are scoring lower on writing assignments than in previous 
semesters and note that this may be an outcome of weaker writing ability among students. 
Faculty will be modeling the writing assignment differently and reassess the results for 
impact. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

37



 

 

 
Audit Assessment Overview: ASET 

 
PLO Assessed (2010-2015): Demonstrate foundational knowledge in at least one technology field 

Semester 
Evidence is 
Collected 

Source of Evidence / Type of 
Assignment 

Population & 
Benchmark 

Results Plan for Improvement 

Spring 2012 PTEC 101 SLO 7: Understand and 
interpret flow diagrams that are 
integral to process systems. Students 
will correctly answer embedded 
questions on final exam 

Students in PTEC 
101 
70% of students 
will answer 
questions correctly 

85% of students answered correctly 
 
 
 
 
n = 13 

Benchmark met. Establishing 
baseline 

Spring 2012 PTEC 101 SLO 7: Understand and 
interpret flow diagrams that are 
integral to process systems. Students 
will correctly answer embedded 
questions on final exam 

Students in PTEC 
101 
70% of students 
will answer 
questions correctly 

80% of students answered correctly 
 
 
 
 
n = 15 

Benchmark met. Review to ensure 
sufficient challenge for students. 

Fall 2013 PTEC 102 SLO 2. The student will 
explain the operating principles and 
function of pumps, motors, tanks and 
vessels used in the process industry 
in order to demonstrate foundational 
knowledge 

Students in PTEC 
102 
70% of students will 
answer questions 
correctly 

50% of students scored 70% or 
better. 

 
 
 
 
n = 4 

Utilize training DVD produced by 
Sunoco and still used by Honeywell, 
companies in process industries. 

Fall 2013 PTEC 102 SLO 3. The student will 
explain the operating principles and 
function of turbines and heat 
exchangers used in the process 
industry in order to demonstrate 
foundational 

Students in PTEC 
102 
70% of students will 
answer questions 
correctly 

100% of students scored 70% or 
better. 

 
 
 
 
n = 4 

 
 
Benchmark met, however with n = 4 
this SLO will be further monitored. 

38



 

 
 

PLO Assessed (2010-2015): PLO 2: Demonstrate laboratory skills in basic science and technology areas 

 

 
 
Spring 2016 

Laboratory activities and lab reports 
where students utilize digital 
multimeters and/or oscilloscopes to 
make basic circuit measurements, 
important laboratory skills for 
technology. 

All students in 
ELEC 120 (course 
will be offered for 
the first time Spring 
2016) 

 
Class average on 
assignment is at 
least 70% 

  

 Lab final where students will be 
given a schematic diagram and 
asked to build a circuit based on 
that diagram, and use appropriate 
instruments to measure specific 
circuit parameters. Interpretation of 
simple schematic diagrams and the 
ability to build a circuit based on the 
diagram is an important technical 
skill. 

All students in 
ELEC 120 (course 
will be offered for 
the first time Spring 
2016) 

 
At least 70% of 
class will pass the 
lab final) 

  

Fall 2015 Test questions where students 
must read and interpret sections 
of a technical service manual, an 
important technical skill 

All students in 
BMET 101 (This 
course is being 
offered for the first 
time Fall 2015) 

 
70% of students 

To be assessed in fall 2015. This 
is a new course being offered for 
the first time in fall 2015. 

 

39



 

 
 
  answer questions 

correctly 
  

Fall 2015 Lab exercise where students must 
refer to a technical service 
manual and apply information 
from the manual in testing of a 
medical device. 

All students in 
BMET 101 (This 
course is being 
offered for the first 
time Fall 2015) 

 
Class average on 
lab assignment is at 
least 70% 

To be assessed in fall 2015. This 
is a new course being offered for 
the first time in fall 2015. 

 

Fall 2015 Students will demonstrate an 
ability in the laboratory to work 
safely and proficiently in 
handling the common laboratory 
equipment and chemicals used to 
carry out laboratory procedures, 
and to collect, record and analyze 
data. 

All students taking 
CHEM 110 

 
 
 
 
80% of students 
will achieve a grade 
of C or better for 
their lab grade 

To be assessed in fall 2015  

Spring 2015 Students will demonstrate an 
ability in the laboratory to work 
safely and proficiently in 
handling the common laboratory 
equipment and chemicals used to 
carry out laboratory procedures, 
and to collect, record and analyze 

All students taking 
CHEM 110 

 
80% of students 
will achieve a grade 
of C or better for 
their lab grade 

93.0% n = 264 The benchmark has been 
exceeded by a significant margin 
for two semesters in a row. We 
will consider increasing the 
benchmark. Note that this is a 
course in a different department 
so we cannot directly change their 
practice, even though the results 

40



 

 
 
 data.   clearly support that the course is 

providing important laboratory 
skills to program students. 

Fall 2014 Students will demonstrate an 
ability in the laboratory to work 
safely and proficiently in 
handling the common laboratory 
equipment and chemicals used to 
carry out laboratory procedures, 
and to collect, record and analyze 
data. 

All students taking 
CHEM 110 

 
80% of students 
will achieve a grade 
of C or better for 
their lab grade 

95.2% n = 398 The benchmark has been 
exceeded by a significant margin. 
Note that this is a course in a 
different department so we cannot 
directly change their practice, 
even though the results clearly 
support that the course is 
providing important laboratory 
skills to program students. 

Up until now this outcome has been assessed based on the lab grades of CHEM 110 students. The benchmark for this assessment has been exceeded 
by a significant margin, indicating that CHEM 110 effectively helps the program fulfill this PLO. We will review the benchmark and consider 
increasing it. In addition, as of the Fall, 2015 semester, a new course will be offered (BMET 101) which includes two course level SLOs relevant to 
this PLO. The outcome will be assessed again during the Fall, 2015 semester. 

PLO #3: Demonstrate an understanding of the interplay between scientific information and public policy and standards 

Spring 2016 Test questions where students 
must Demonstrate understanding 
of basic safety and safety 
standards in in the following 
areas: 
•Electrical 
•Fire 
•Pressurized gas 

Students in BMET 
102 (offered for the 
first time in Sp 
2016) 

 
 
 
 
70% of students 
answer question 

  

41



 

 
 
 •Infection control/universal 

precautions 
•Chemical/MSDS 
•Radiology safety 
•Laser safety . Students will need to 
understand the scientific foundation 
for these safety standards. 

correctly   

Fall 2015 Final project where students discuss 
how new technologies impact society 
in a variety of ways, such as creating 
ethical and legal issues, altering 
employment trends, and shifting 
government priorities and spending. 
Students must base their discussion 
on a scientific foundation. 

All students taking 
ASET 101 

 
Class average on 
final project is 70% 
or better 

class average was 72.4% 
 
n =37 

This is slightly above the 
benchmark. Changes 
implemented during the Spring 
2015 semester based upon data 
from the previous semester 
appears to have had a positive 
impact, though the outcome this 
semester was more aligned to the 
outcomes of the Fall 2012 and 
Fall 2013 semesters. We will 
continue to monitor the outcome 
and consider increasing the 
benchmark to 75%. 

Spring 2015 Final project where students discuss 
how new technologies impact society 
in a variety of ways, such as creating 
ethical and legal issues, altering 
employment trends, and shifting 
government priorities and spending. 
Students must base their discussion 
on a scientific foundation. 

All students taking 
ASET 101 

 
Class average on 
final project is 70% 
or better 

Class average: 68.0% This is slightly below the 
benchmark. The previous two 
cycles the class average was 
above the benchmark. It is noted 
that the two written sections of 
the final project used to assess 
written communication are also 
lower than previous cycles, so the 
lower class average here may be 

42



 

 
 
    an artifact of weaker writing 

ability among the students in 
general. Changes being 
implemented for the Energy 
Resource Description section of 
the final project will likely have a 
positive impact on the overall 
final project grade. We will 
monitor this outcome in the next 
cycle. (See files: ASET 101 Final 
Project for Spring 2015, Fall, 
2014, Fall 2013 and Fall 2012 to 
see changes in the assignment to 
better clarify requirements, add 
additional sections, and provide 
modeling to students.) 

 

 
Fall 2014 

Final project where students discuss 
how new technologies impact society 
in a variety of ways, such as creating 
ethical and legal issues, altering 
employment trends, and shifting 
government priorities and spending. 
Students must base their discussion 
on a scientific foundation. 

All students taking 
ASET 101 

 
Class average on 
final project is 70% 
or better 

Fall 2013 class average: 72.3% Benchmark met. Still establishing 
baseline. Continue to monitor. 

Fall 2013 Final project where students discuss 
how new technologies impact 
society in a variety of ways, such as 
creating ethical and legal issues, 
altering employment trends, and 

All students taking 
ASET 101 

 
Class average on 
final project is 70% 

Fall 2012 Class average: 76.1% Benchmark met. Still establishing 
baseline. Continue to monitor. 

43



 

 
 
 shifting government priorities and 

spending. Students must base their 
discussion on a scientific foundation. 

or better   

Fall 2012 Final project where students discuss 
how new technologies impact society 
in a variety of ways, such as creating 
ethical and legal issues, altering 
employment trends, and shifting 
government priorities and spending. 
Students must base their discussion 
on a scientific foundation. 

All students taking 
ASET 101 

 
 
 
 
Class average on 
final project is 70% 
or better 

  

 
While the benchmark for this learning outcome has been met 3 of the 4 semesters when data was collected there is clearly room for improvement. It appears that 
recently introduced changes to the final project in ASET 101 have had a positive impact, but at this point we have data for only one semester since the change was 
introduced. We will collect data from the ASET 101 final project again in the Fall of 2015 and make a determination of what action may be needed at that time. In 
addition BMET 102, which has a course level outcome that supports this program level outcome, will be offered for the first time in the Spring, 2016. This will 
provide a second assessment for this PLO. 
PLO Assessed (2010-2015): PLO 4: Present technical information in oral, written or graphic format. 

 

 
 
Spring 2016 

Classroom Presentation where 
students explain technical aspects 
of a specific medical device, 
safety issues related to the device, 
and discuss a common repair 
problem for the device. Requires 
that students present technical 
information in oral form. 

All students in 
BMET 102 

 
Class average is 
70% or better 

To be assessed in spring 2016 
(new course which will be offered 
for the first time in Spring 2016) 

 

44



 

 
 

Fall 2015 The energy resource section of the 
final project requires a written 
description of technical 
information 

All students taking 
ASET 101 

 
Class average is 
70% or better 

To be assessed in fall 2015  

Fall 2015 The energy recommendation 
section of the final project 
requires students to utilize 
technical information to support 
their viewpoint in written format. 

All students taking 
ASET 101 

To be assessed in fall 2015  

Fall 2015 Homework or exam question that 
requires interpretation and 
drawing of graphs in order to 
communicate information 
visually 

All students taking 
ASET 101 

 
Class average is 
70% or better 

To be assessed in fall 2015  

Fall 2015 Section of final project that 
requires students to visually 
communicate information 
comparing two different energy 
sources 

All students taking 
ASET 101 

 
Class average is 
70% or better 

To be assessed in fall 2015  

Fall 2015 Oral communication of results of 
final project to the class 

All students taking 
ASET 101 

 
Class average is 
70% or better 

To be assessed in fall 2015  

45



 

 
 

Spring 2015 The energy resource section of 
the final project requires a written 
description of technical 
information 

All students taking 
ASET 101 

 
Class average is 
70% or better 

70.5% 
 
n = 42 

This is the first semester since this 
particular assessment tool has 
been used that the benchmark has 
been met, albeit by a narrow 
margin. Pedagogical changes 
related to the final project may be 
responsible for the increased 
performance by students 
(improvement ranges between 
9%--17% over the last three 
years). We will assess this 
outcome again in Fall 2015 to see 
if the improvement holds before 
introducing any additional 
changes. 

Spring 2015 The energy recommendation 
section of the final project 
requires students to utilize 
technical information to support 
their viewpoint in written format. 

All students taking 
ASET 101 

 
Class average is 
70% or better 

78.5% 
 
n = 34 

Benchmark met. 

Spring 2015 Homework or exam question that 
requires interpretation and 
drawing of graphs in order to 
communicate information 
visually 

All students taking 
ASET 101 

 
Class average is 
70% or better 

90.1% 
 
n = 38 

Benchmark met. 

46



 

 
 

Spring 2015 Graph interpretation questions on 
unit test (average of correct 
answers for 3 questions). In order 
to communicate information 
visually it is necessary to be able 
to understand and interpret 
information presented in a 
graphical format. Since this does 
not directly measure their ability 
to actually present data visually 
this is an indirect measure that 
demonstrates a highly related 
skill. 

All students taking 
ASET 101 

 
Class average is 
70% or better 

88.6% 
 
n = 38 

Benchmark met. This is an 
additional assessment that was 
added during this assessment 
round to identify any potential 
areas for increased student 
success in this area. 

Spring 2015 Oral communication of results of 
final project to the class 

All students taking 
ASET 101 

 
Class average is 
70% or better 

89.5% 
 
n = 37 

Benchmark met 

Fall 2014 The energy resource section of 
the final project requires a written 
description of technical 
information 

All students taking 
ASET 101 

 
Class average is 
70% or better 

52.6% Benchmark not met. Introduction 
of clearer directions, with greater 
structure defined for students, has 
not had the desired effect. We will 
incorporate modeling of different 
aspects of the final project into 
the class. 

47



 

 
 

Fall 2014 The energy recommendation 
section of the final project 
requires students to utilize 
technical information to support 
their viewpoint in written format. 

All students taking 
ASET 101 

 
Class average is 
70% or better 

71.3% Benchmark met. However there is 
clear room for improvement. We 
will incorporate modeling of 
different aspects of the final 
project into the class. 

Fall 2014 Homework or exam question that 
requires interpretation and 
drawing of graphs in order to 
communicate information 
visually 

All students taking 
ASET 101 

 
Class average is 
70% or better 

88.6% 
 
n = 38 

Benchmark met 

Fall 2014 Oral communication of results of 
final project to the class 

All students taking 
ASET 101 

 
Class average is 
70% or better 

87.3% Benchmark met 

Fall 2013 The energy resource section of 
the final project requires a written 
description of technical 
information 

All students taking 
ASET 101 

 
Class average is 
70% or better 

61.2% Benchmark not met. Instructions 
for this section of the final project 
were modified previously, and 
there is some improvement over 
the previous assessment cycles. 
Further modifications will be 
incorporated to ensure that 
students fully understand what is 
expected of them. 

Fall 2013 The energy recommendation 
section of the final project 
requires students to utilize 

All students taking 
ASET 101 

78.5% Benchmark met 

48



 

 
 
 technical information to support 

their viewpoint in written format. 
Class average is 
70% or better 

  

Fall 2013 Homework or exam question that 
requires interpretation and 
drawing of graphs in order to 
communicate information 
visually 

All students taking 
ASET 101 

 
Class average is 
70% or better 

77.9% Benchmark met. Additional 
assessment will be added to 
identify any potential areas for 
increased student success in this 
area. 

Fall 2012 The energy resource section of 
the final project requires a written 
description of technical 
information 

All students taking 
ASET 101 

 
Class average is 
70% or better 

56.1% Benchmark not met. Students may 
not fully understand expectations 
for this section of the final 
project. Instructions to students 
will be modified to clarify 
expectations. 

Fall 2012 The energy recommendation 
section of the final project 
requires students to utilize 
technical information to support 
their viewpoint in written format. 

All students taking 
ASET 101 

 
Class average is 
70% or better 

74.3% Benchmark met. 

Fall 2012 Homework or exam question that 
requires interpretation and 
drawing of graphs in order to 
communicate information 
visually 

All students taking 
ASET 101 

 
Class average is 
70% or better 

86.7% Benchmark met. Establishing 
baseline 

 

49



 

 
 

Spring 2012 PTEC 101 SLO 2. Work 
effectively as part of a team such 
as those which would be 
encountered when working in 
process industries 

Students in PTEC 
101 

 
70% of students 
will earn a grade of 
70% or better for 
their team 
presentations 

92% of students scored 70% or 
better 

n = 12 

Benchmark met. Establishing 
baseline 

Spring 2013 PTEC 101 SLO 2. 
 
Work effectively as part of a team 
such as those which would be 
encountered when working in 
process industries 

Students in PTEC 
101 

 
70% of students 
will earn a grade of 
70% or better for 
their team 
presentations 

100% of students scored 70% or 
better 

n = 15 

Benchmark met. Review to ensure 
sufficient challenge for students. 

50



 

C.   QVIs/335s 
The Program is up-to-date on all Act 335s. QVIs for the program from 2012 through 2014 
were evaluated for this audit. The QVI scores reflect the program quality and viability at a 
specific point in time. Although certain areas may have changed since the Program was 
scored, scores from the past remain on record. 

 
The Program recorded a quality score of three in 2012; by 2014, the score had increased to 
3.5. The increase in score can be explained by the creation and implementation of an 
assessment plan. Over the same time period, the Program experienced a decrease in 
viability from 2.5 to 1.2. The decrease can be attributed to poor retention, graduation rates, 
and degrees awarded. 

 
VI. Resources 

The Biomedical Equipment courses in the Program require significant resources that are 
funded by the College and a National Science Foundation grant. Resources provided by the 
College include: renovation (widening of space, outfitting with laboratories, installation of a 
compressed air manifold, installation of window shades), furniture, and computers. The NSF 
grant includes specialized equipment for the lab (specialized equipment over $5000: 
Infusion Device Analyzer, Vital Signs Simulator, Physicologic Monitor, Electrosurgery Unit 
Testers, Defibrillator/pacer, Defib/Pacer Analyzer (Delta 3000A), Ventilator Tester with test 
lung, Network Equipment for Lab) . 

 
A previous Department of Labor grant covered the cost of the Process Technology courses in 
the Program. 

 
VII. Demand 

The objective of the Applied Science and Engineering Technology Program is to train 
graduates for careers as process technicians and medical equipment repairers. The Program 
also intends to prepare students for transfer into an Engineering Technology Program. 

 
Locally, regionally, and nationally careers in these three areas are projected to grow over the 
next ten years. In Philadelphia, jobs in industrial engineering technology (process technology) 
and medical equipment repair are projected to grow at approximately twice the rate of jobs 
nationwide. 

 
The majority of industrial engineering technician and medical equipment repair jobs are 
filled by people with some college or an associate’s degree. The growth and the level of 
education both speak to the importance of offering these programs at the associate’s level. 

 
Locally (in a 15 mile radius), 15 colleges offer certificates, associates, and/or bachelor’s 
degrees in engineering technology and engineering related fields, chemical process 
technology, and biomedical technology. This includes 10 associates programs, three 
bachelors programs, and seven certificates. However, the College’s ASET Program does not 
align with the requirements of other Engineering Technology programs. 

 
Curricular discrepancies between similarly titled programs and the ASET Program make it 
challenging to place it among its peers. Institutions offer programs in Engineering 
Technology, Process Technology, and Biomedical Equipment Repair. Other institutions 

51



 

surveyed differentiate between engineering technology programs and career programs. 
Coursework in career programs focuses on the specific career field in which the program 
prepares graduates to enter, either biomedical equipment repair or process technology. 
Other institutions’ career programs are commonly named after the field that they prepare 
students to enter. “Engineering Technology” programs more typically offer a variety of 
courses including engineering, physics, and math. The Engineering Technology programs 
prepare students for employment or transfer, while the career programs exclusively prepare 
students for employment. Conversely, the ASET program is designed with a strong focus in 
workforce development, and also serves as a foundational program for those seeking 
transfers. Students intending to transfer may require higher level math or physics 
coursework than that required by the program. The program believes these distinctions are 
adequately clarified for students in advising. 

 
Table 7a: Expected Job Growth (Data from EMSI) 

2014-2024 Job Outlook 
Occupation Philadelphia MSA USA Av. Yearly Salary 

Industrial Engineering Technicians -6.3% (75) -2.8% (713) -1.2% (67,006) $47,888 
Medical Equipment Repairers 25.7% (230) 21.1%(1093) 25.3% (115,573) $42,480 

 
 
 
 

Table 7b: Educational Attainment (Data from EMSI) 
 

National Education Attainment 

Occupation HS Diploma or Less Some College Associate's Bachelor's Graduate 

Industrial Engineering Technicians 26.80% 33.1% 22.6% 14.5% 2.9% 
Medical Equipment Repairers 26.90% 29.40% 24.00% 16.40% 3.30% 

52



 

VIII. Operating Costs 
Over the past four years, the Program’s operating costs have been very close to the cost of 
the College and approximately 1/3 the average cost of the Math, Science, and Health 
Division. The Program has been funded by the College, Pell Grants, the NSF, and the 
Department of Labor. 

 
Table 8: Program Cost Data 

 

 
 
 

10000 
9000 
8000 
7000 
6000 
5000 
4000 
3000 

 
 

Cost Per FTE 

2009-2010 2010-2011 2011-2012 2012-2013 
 

ASET Math, Science, and Health College 

53



 

IX. Findings & Recommendations 
1.   Evaluate the overlap between Applied Science and Engineering Technology and 

Technical Studies. 
Technical Studies is intended to serve students transitioning or becoming credentialed 
mid-career.  Applied Science and Engineering Technology is geared to workforce entry, 
and stackable credits towards an associate’s degree. Over the past year, both 
underwent program revisions and the audit process simultaneously. These revisions 
introduced curricular changes that improved both programs, but also introduced 
increased congruency, in that both programs now offer credit for prior learning in the 
technical field, and share a technical curricular track. This overlap has the potential to 
create duplicative work for the faculty and confusion for students interested in a 
technical field. 

 
It is recommended that the programs create a proposal for increasing coordination or 
distinction. This could include, but is not limited to: housing the programs in the same 
department, combining the programs, or leaving the programs as they are but with 
increased partnership. The Programs should continue to monitor the impact of the 
program revisions in order to clarify the distinctions between the two programs and 
confirm that a distinction has been achieved. 

Timeline: Fall 2016 
Persons Responsible: Division Deans and Program Contacts 

 
2.   Program Review and Evaluate the Program Name for Clarity 

Applied Science and Engineering Technology is a career program and as such, should 
provide students with clearer materials defining the scope and purpose of the program 
and courses of study leading to well defined career opportunities. The current program 
name is problematic because it implies that the program is similar to a two year 
engineering technology program. ASET does not, however, require the standard courses 
of an associate in engineering technology. Given the broad nature and general 
understanding of the term Engineering Technology, the program should determine 
whether including “Engineering Technology” in the title of the program accurately 
describes the content of the program, keeping in mind prospective students, transfer 
institutions, and employers. 

Timeline: Spring 2017, ready for new catalog 
Persons Responsible: Division Dean and Program Contact 

 
3.   Create a student tracking system to determine factors influencing attrition and 

retention. (Retention, Outcomes, and Course Efficiency) 
ASET records very poor retention. The Program’s fall-fall and fall-spring retention rates 
are lower than the average for the college. Only 26% of students in the Program 
continue from one fall to the next, compared to 36.7% college-wide. Between 2009 and 
2013, 74 students left the Program (and the College). Sixty-four percent of these 
students left with less than 12 credits (college-wide approximately 60% of students who 
leave do so during their first 12 credits). Additionally, approximately 14% of students in 
the ASET program change majors between one fall and the next, compared to 
approximately 8% college wide. 

54



 

This audit has highlighted the need for the creation of a retention plan. The retention 
plan should focus on students enrolled in their first 12 credits; efforts could include a 
course revision to ASET 101, clarifying the goals and objectives of the program to 
incoming students, and/or utilizing starfish to track at risk students. The BMET 
mentorship program, currently in development, might be applied to all ASET students. 

 
On average, the Applied Science and Engineering Program runs approximately 3.5 
sections per semester. While courses within the Division are at 88% of capacity, ASET 
courses, on average, have run with an average capacity of 69% in the fall and 66% in the 
spring. Program faculty must develop a program management plan that addresses the 
low section enrollment efficiency. 

 
The program enjoys solid student course completion rates (85.3%). However, 
approximately 43% of the students who leave the Program do so in poor academic 
standing; College-wide this figure is approximately 37% (see Table 3). The Program 
needs to further investigate the disconnect between course completion and program 
completion to improve student success. 

Timeline: Fall 2016 
Persons Responsible: Program Faculty 

 
4.   Assessment 

The department needs to further examine its assessment practice for quality 
improvement. Although assessment is occurring, the program has recorded few action 
plans. A renewed focus on improving teaching and learning across the curriculum is 
recommended. Program faculty must complete one cycle of assessment by the end of 
spring 2016. 

 
Two areas of the curriculum map must be addressed. First, the Program must create a 
curriculum map that identifies where outcomes are introduced, reinforced, mastered, 
and assessed. Second, the curricular map should adequately reflect how students will 
meet program learning outcomes, as individuals make course selections through the 
program (example: students can either enroll in PTEC 103 or BMET 102 and students can 
either enroll in ASET 130 or BMET 202). 

Timeline: Fall 2016 
Persons Responsible: Program Contact 

55



Community College of Philadelphia 
 
 

Academic Program Audit 
 
 

Technical Studies A.A.S. 
 

(Formerly Applied Studies) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Author: Christine 
McDonnell 

 
 
 

Contributor: 
Tom Quinn 

 
Date: November, 2015 

56



 

I. Executive Summary 
The Technical Studies Program is geared towards students with a variety of backgrounds, 
generally technical, who possess certification and technical skills, and would like to receive 
credit for these experiences to apply it towards an associate’s degree. The Program underwent 
its last revision in 2014 became effective in the fall of 2015. The new Program includes four 
components: prior learning assessment, general education, communication, and a personal 
education plan. 

 
Enrollment has averaged 21 students each fall over the past five years with declining 
enrollment. During the 2012-2013 and 2013-2014 school years, no new students enrolled in the 
program. 

 
Technical Studies (formerly Applied Studies) targets a distinctly different population than any 
other program in the College.  Unlike other programs, Applied Studies/Technical Studies enrolls 
students who already have technical skills, but are lacking in general education. The Program is 
aimed at people interested in promotion within their field, shifting careers, or advancing into 
their chosen field. The Program attracts students more likely to be older, male, and Caucasian or 
Asian compared to the Division and College.  These students are less likely to require 
developmental coursework and are more likely to be in good academic standing. Program 
retention is very poor. Almost half of the students who leave the Program do so in good 
academic standing.  Compared to the Division (38%) and the College (37%), a much smaller 
proportion of Applied Studies/Technical Studies students leave the program unsuccessfully 
(14%). Eight degrees have been awarded over the past five years. 

 
Under the Applied Studies name, the Program had assessed one PLO and met the benchmark of 
100%. The Program changed from Applied Studies to Technical Studies during the fall of 2015, 
and Technical Studies has different outcomes than Applied Studies. Modifications to teaching 
and learning have not been recorded. 

 
The Program has a diverse advisory committee, with members from local flight and aviation 
mechanics institutions, unions, and universities with similar programs. Locally, many schools 
offer similar programs.  However, it appears that the key to a successful program is creating a 
joint sponsorship between the Program and local unions and technical high schools, with the 
sponsorship feeding students into the program. 

 
Audit recommendations focus on creating a program management plan for this population, 
creating a student tracking system to determine factors influencing attrition and retention, and 
evaluating the overlap between Applied Science and Engineering Technology and Technical 
Studies. 

 
II.   Program Description 

A. College Catalog Description (Technical Studies) 
The Technical Studies Program recognizes valuable training and/or work experience by giving 
students in technical fields the opportunity to receive college credits for their experiences and 
to apply that experience and knowledge to an associate's degree. It assists individuals in their 
preparation for career advancement or change. The student will develop an individualized 
program of study directly related to career or educational goals. 

57



 

This select program has four components: 
1)   Prior learning assessment: 12-30 credits in the Technical/Occupational core from 

industry certifications and other demonstrated competencies 
2)   21 credits of General Education 
3)   3 credits in communication 
4)   6-24 credits taken as part of a Personal Education Plan that has either a technical or a 

business-related focus 
 

B.   History and Revisions to the Curriculum 
The Technical Studies and Technical Studies Programs has existed at the College since 2009. 
The Program underwent its last revision in 2014 which became effective in the fall of 2015. 
The 2014 revision was the result of recommendations made by the advisory committee, 
program faculty, and industry voices. Revisions included changing the name of the program 
from Applied Studies to Technical Studies, eliminating the second social science course, 
requiring a three credit communication course, renaming the ‘concentration’ courses 
‘technical / occupation competencies’, increasing the number of credits of ‘technical/ 
occupational competencies’ (prior learning assessment), and creating a Personal Education 
Plan. 

58



 

12-30 

 

 
C.   Curriculum Sequence 

Course Number and Name Pre & Co-requisites Credits Gen Ed Req. 

Technical/Occupational Core Industry certifications and/or other documentation for 
consideration for prior learning assessment. 

First Semester 
ENGL 101 - English Composition I  3 ENGL 101 
FNMT 118 - Intermediate Algebra (or higher)  3 Mathematics 
CIS 103 - Applied Computer Technology 
Science Elective 

Second Semester 

 3 
3 or 4 

Tech Comp 
Natural Science 

ENGL 102 - The Research Paper ENGL 101 with a grade of “C” or better 3 ENGL 102, Info Lit 
Communications Elective (choose one) 
ENGL 115 - Public Speaking or 

For ENGL 115 and 117: ENGL 101, may be concurrently 3  

ENGL 116 - Interpersonal Communication or 
ENGL 117 - Group & Team Communication or 

For ENGL 116: ENGL 101 or ENGL 114   

ENGL 118 - Intercultural Communication For ENGL 118: No prerequisite   
Humanities Elective  3 Humanities 
Social Science Elective  3 Social Sciences 
Third & Fourth Semester    
Personal Education Plan (PEP)*  6-24  
Minimum Credits Needed to Graduate:  60  

*In order to ensure that the PEP has a unifying focus and relates to the Technical/Occupational Core, students 
should select individual courses within one of the two concentrations listed below. 

Technology Concentration: Business Concentration: 
Applied Science and Engineering Technology (ASET) Accounting (ACCT) 
Architecture, Design and Construction (ADC) Computer Information Systems (CIS) 
Automotive Technology (AT) Economics (ECON) 
Computer Information Systems (CIS) Entrepreneurship (ENTR) 
Computer Science (CSCI) Finance (FIN) 
Geographic Information Systems (GIS) Management (MNGT) 
Process Technology (PTEC) Marketing (MKTG) 

Real Estate (RE) 

59



 

D.   Curriculum Map 
Student Learning 
Outcomes 

Demonstrate 
competence in oral and 
written communication 

Demonstrate an 
understanding of 
cultural diversity 

Demonstrate the 
ability to think critically 
in many disciplines 

Technical and 
 

Occupational Core 

   

ENGL 101 I  I 
ENGL 102 R, A  R 
Social Science 
Elective 

 I I 

Humanities Elective  I, R I 
Natural Science 
Elective 

  I 

Communications 
Requirement 

R, A   

Courses in the 
Personal Educational 
Plan 

   

 
E.   Advisory Committee 
The Program’s advisory committee meets twice annually. Members include individuals from 
the Energy Coordinating Agency, Aviation School of Maintenance, International Brotherhood 
of Electrical Workers (IBEW 98), Hortman Aviation Services, and Thomas Edison University. 
Recent discussions have focused on a renewed relationship with IBEW 98 (similar to IBEW 
and Pittsburgh and Allegheny Community College), the curriculum revision, enrollment, 
assessment, and the audit. 

 
F.    Future Direction for the Field/ Program 
The Program Coordinator and the Associate VP of Strategic Initiatives are working together 
to build relationships with local unions so that union members can use their apprenticeship 
training towards the completion of an associate’s degree.  Specifically, the Program has 
created an agreement with the Steamfitters Local Union 420.  The Program already has 
agreements with Local 98, IBEW, Hortman Aviation Services Inc., and the Aviation Institute 
of Maintenance. There is a potential from growth in this Program due to thing recent focus 
on competency based education and prior learning assessment. 

 
Additionally, a pilot shortage is projected due to a mandatory retirement age of 65 and 
restrictions placed on pilots between the ages of 60 and 64. A four year degree is required 
for pilots at major airlines and a two year degree is required for pilots at smaller, regional 
airlines. 

60



 

 34 35 16 13 6 
 

22 24 10 6 3 

21 
 

13 

-82% 
 

-86% 

Liberal Studies 
Headcount 
FTE Headcount 

8892 8711 8717 8216 8059 
6313 6175 6137 5745 5649 

8,519 
6,004 

-9% 
-11% 

College 
Headcount 
FTE Headcount 

19047 19502 19752 18951 19065 
13361 13697 13682 13106 13163 

19,263 
13,402 

0% 
-1% 

 

III.  Profile of the Faculty 
A.   Program Faculty 

There is no faculty for this program because there are no specific Technical Studies 
courses. 

 
IV.  Program Characteristics 

A.   Student Profile 
Enrollment in the Technical Studies Program (formerly Applied Studies) averaged 21 
students over the last five years and is on a downward trend. From 2009 to 2013, 
enrollment decreased by 82%. During the 2012-2013 and 2013-2014 school years, no 
new students enrolled in the Program. 

 
 
 
 
 

Applied 

Table 1: Headcounts 
 
 
 

Headcount 

 
 
Fall 

2009 

 
 
Fall 

2010 

 
 
Fall 

2011 

 
 
Fall 

2012 

 
 
Fall 

2013 

 
 
5 Year 

Average 

 
 
5 Year 

Change 

Studies/Technical 
Studies 

 
FTE Headcount 

61



 

The Technical Studies Program (formerly Applied Studies) attracts students that lack a 
general education but who have careers, certification, and expertise in a technical area. 
The Program enrolls students with different demographics than the Division and the 
College. The Program enrolls a higher proportion of males (51.6%) than the Division 
(37.4%) and the College (35.4%).  The Program enrolls a higher proportion of Asian and 
Caucasian students, and a marginally higher proportion of African American students 
than the Division and the College. The Program enrolls a lower proportion of Latino, 
multiracial, and Pacific Islander students than the Division and the College.  The 
Program enrolls a much lower proportion of students ages 16 to 21. While 
approximately half of the students in the College are between the age of 22 and 39, 70% 
of students in the Program fall into that age group. While 42% of the students in the 
Program place at college level, only 23% of students in Liberal Studies place at college 
level. 

 
Table 2: Demographics 

 Applied 
Studies/Technical Liberal 

Studies Studies College 
Female 

Male 
Unknown 

48.4% 62.1% 64.2% 
51.6% 37.4% 35.4% 

0% 0.5% 0.5% 
  

Native American 
Asian 

African American 
Latino/a 

Multiracial 
Pacific Islander 

Unknown 
Caucasian 

0% 0.5% 0.4% 
9% 4.9% 7.3% 

51% 49.9% 48.8% 
4% 10.9% 10.5% 
0% 2.5% 2.3% 
0% 0.2% 0.2% 
7% 6.9% 6.8% 

29% 24.3% 23.8% 
  

16 – 21 
22 – 29 
30 – 39 

40 + 
Unknown 

15.0% 32.3% 32.5% 
37.7% 35.6% 36.6% 
28.7% 15.5% 17.0% 
16.1% 15.8% 13.0% 
2.7% 0.9% 0.9% 

  
Full Time 

Part Time 
21.6% 33.6% 31.2% 
78.4% 66.4% 68.8% 

  
All Developmental 

Some Developmental 
College Level 

19.1% 30.0% 28.3% 
38.9% 46.8% 43.9% 
42.1% 23.2% 27.8% 

62



 

 Applied Liberal College 
Studies/Technical Studies 

Studies 
Good Standing 
Probation 
Dropped 

87% 84% 85.0% 
12% 15% 13.5% 
1% 2% 1.6% 

  
Returned/Same 
Returned/Different 
Graduated 
Did Not Return 

63% 64.4% 65.8% 
5% 6.4% 5.2% 
5% 2.8% 2.1% 

28% 26.5% 26.9% 
  

Returned/Same 
Returned/Different 
Graduated 
Did Not Return 

25.2% 35.9% 36.7% 
15.4% 9.7% 8.6% 
10.7% 8.5% 8.4% 
48.8% 45.9% 46.4% 

  
Graduated 
Long Term Success 
Short Term Success 
Unsuccessful 

3.6% 10.5% 10.0% 
44.7% 37.3% 36.2% 
35.7% 14.3% 17.2% 
16.1% 37.9% 36.6% 

  
Course Completion 
GPA 

87.9% 87.4% 88.2% 
3.27 2.66 2.65 

 

The Technical Studies Program (formerly Applied Studies) records outcomes similar to 
that of the College in many areas; however, weaker outcomes are recorded in fall-fall 
retention, students changing majors, and graduation rate. Although the graduation rate 
is low, students are achieving long-term and short-term success at substantially higher 
rates than in the Division and the College.  Additionally, the average GPA of students in 
the Program is substantially higher than the average GPA in the Division and the College. 

 
Table 3: Outcomes Data: 5 Year Averages 

 
 
 
 
 

Standing 
 
 
 
 

Fall-Spring 
Retention 

 
 
 
 

Fall-Fall 
Retention 

 
 
 
 

Success at 
Departure 

 
 
 

Course 
Outcomes 

63



 

Transfer and Graduation 
Eight Applied Studies/Technical Studies degrees have been awarded over the past five years. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

1500 
 

1000 
 

500 
 

0 

Figure 1: Degrees Awarded  

 
 

Liberal Studies 

2009  2010  2011  2012  2013 
 

Libe ral Studies 
 
 

2200 
 

2100 
 

2000 
 

1900 
 

1800  
 
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 

 
College 

 
 

15 
 

 
10 

 

 
5 

 

 
0 

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 
 

Technical Studies 

64



 

Table 4: Degrees Awarded 
 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 Total 

Applied Studies/Technical Studies 
Liberal Studies 
College 

0 2 2 0 4 
1158 956 1014 1073 999 
2125 1908 1949 2101 2039 

8 
5200 

10122 
 

Applied Studies/Technical Studies is an A.A.S. and, therefore, the focus of this program 
is direct-to-work as opposed to transfer. Over a five-year period (program entry fall 
2007-spring 2012), 38% percent of the students who departed the Program transferred 
(count of 13). Additionally, half the students who left the Program earned fewer than 12 
credits. 

 

 
 

Exit Status Transferred Did Not Transfer Total 
Count 

 
Total Percent 

Count Percent Count Percent 
Graduate 

Earned 45 or more credits 
Earned 24 to 44 credits 
Earned 12 to 23 credits 

Earned less than 12 credits 

0 0.0% 
1 100.0% 
3 75.0% 
4 40.0% 
5 29.4% 

2 100.0% 
0 0.0% 
1 25.0% 
6 60.0% 

12 70.6% 

2 100.0% 
1 100.0% 
4 100.0% 
10 100.0% 
17 100.0% 

Grand Total 13 38.2% 21 61.8% 34 100.0% 
Table 5: Transfer at Departure 

 
The College and Division record an almost equal number of freshmen as sophomores. 
However, within the Technical Studies Program (formerly Applied Studies), there are 
eight percent more sophomores than freshmen. This could be explained by students 
transferring in credits for certifications. 

 
Figure 2: Distribution of Students in Program 

65



 

V.   Learning Outcomes and Assessment 
A.   Student Learning Outcomes 
Upon completion of the Technical Studies Program graduates will be able to: 

1. Demonstrate competence in oral and written communication. 
2. Demonstrate an understanding of cultural diversity. 
3. Demonstrate the ability to think critically in many disciplines. 

 
B.   Assessment 
The Program has evaluated one outcome from the Applied Studies PLOs. Since the Program 
is small and doesn’t own any of its own courses, all students are individually assessed upon 
graduation.  Since the Program owns none of its own courses, no course level assessment 
was done. 

66



 

 

 
Audit Assessment Overview: Technical Studies 

 
PLO Assessed (2010-2015): Demonstrate competence in oral and written communication. 

Semester 
Evidence is 
Collected 

Source of Evidence / Type of 
Assignment 

Population 
& Benchmark 

Results Plan for Improvement 

Data will be 
collected every 
semester in 
which students 
graduate. 

Because the program does not 
have any program specific 
courses (no Technical Studies 
courses exist), assessment occurs 
upon completion of the program 
requirements. When a student 
applies for graduation they will 
write a brief essay which will be 
evaluated for competence in 
written communication. 

All graduating 
students. 

 
 
 
 
All students will 
score a 3 or above 
on the five point 
rubric. 

This program recently underwent 
a major revision, which included 
changes to assessment. No new 
students have applied to graduate 
under the new program guidelines 
because it was revised in fall of 
2015. 

 
 
 
 
Pending student graduation. 

Pending student graduation. 

PLO Assessed (2010-2015):  Demonstrate an understanding of cultural diversity. 

Data will be 
collected every 
semester in 
which students 
graduate. 

Because the program does not 
have any program specific 
courses (no Technical Studies 
courses exist), assessment occurs 
upon completion of the program 
requirements. When a student 
applies for graduation they will 
take a brief quiz on cultural 
diversity. 

All graduating 
students. 

 
All students will 
achieve a grade of 
‘C‘ or better (with 
70% or more of the 
quiz questions 
answered 
correctly). 

This program recently underwent 
a major revision, which included 
changes to assessment. No new 
students have applied to graduate 
under the new program guidelines 
because it was revised in fall of 
2015. 

 
Pending student graduation. 

Pending student graduation. 

67



 

 
 

PLO Assessed (2010-2015):  Demonstrate the ability to think critically in many disciplines. 

Data will be 
collected every 
semester in 
which students 
graduate. 

Because the program does not 
have any program specific 
courses (no Technical Studies 
courses exist), assessment occurs 
upon completion of the program 
requirements. When a student 
applies for graduation they will 
take a brief quiz on critical 
thinking. 

All students will 
score a C or better 
in the quiz (with 
70% or more of 
quiz questions 
answered 
correctly). 

This program recently underwent 
a major revision, which included 
changes to assessment. No new 
students have applied to graduate 
under the new program guidelines 
because it was revised in fall of 
2015. 

 
Pending student graduation. 

Pending student graduation. 

68



 

C.   QVIs/335s 
The program does not have 335s since it owns no courses. 

 
QVIs from 2011 and 2013 were evaluated for this audit. QVI’s were not available from 2012 
and 2014. The QVI scores reflect the program quality and viability at a specific point in time. 
Although certain areas may have changed since the Program was scored, scores from the 
past remain on record. 

 
The Program recorded a quality score of 3.4 in 2011; by 2013 the quality of the Program was 
‘not applicable’. Since the Program does not have any of its own courses, it does not 
participate in course level assessment, and prior to the fall of 2013 did not participate in 
program level assessment. The Program’s viability score dropped from 1.75 in 2011 to .6 in 
2013. This change is due to poor retention, low graduation rates, and low enrollment. 

 
VI.  Resources 

The Program requires no special resources. 
 

VII. Demand 
CCP’s Technical Studies Program provides students in technical fields with an associate’s degree. 
Avionics technician, aircraft mechanics and service technicians, electricians, commercial pilots, 
plumbers, pipefitters, and steamfitters are common occupations among students in the Program. 
Locally, occupations in avionics and aircraft mechanics are projected to grow very little over the next 
ten years (2.5% and 1.9%).  The outlook is better nationally (8.1% and 8.5%), but still weaker than 
the nationwide average job growth (11%). Locally, electrician careers are projected to grow at 
almost double (21.2%) the rate of all jobs nationwide. Locally, commercial pilot jobs are projected to 
grow very little over the next ten years (4.9%); however, nationwide, projected growth (15.7%) is 
above the nationwide average jobs growth. Regionally, plumbers , pipefitters, and steamfitter jobs 
(16.6%)are projected to grow more than the nationwide average jobs growth over the next 10 years; 
however, this growth is projected to occur within the metropolitan statistical area, not the City. 

 
Looking at the educational attainment of employees in these fields, approximately 20% of people 
working as aircraft and aviation technicians have associate degrees, while approximately 13% of 
electricians have associate degrees. 

 
The majority of aviation technicians, aircraft mechanics, service technicians, electricians, plumbers, 
pipefitters, and steamfitters have an educational attainment of less than an associate’s degree 
(some college, a high school diploma, or have not graduated from high school). The majority of 
commercial pilots have a bachelor’s or graduate degree. It is difficult to determine whether an 
associate’s degree is the appropriate level of education for people in these fields when, generally, 
those in jobs involving avionics, aircraft mechanics, aircraft service technicians, electricians, 
plumbers, pipefitters, and steamfitters have a lower level of education and commercial pilots 
generally have a higher level of education. 

 
Locally, schools in the area offer similar programs. Delaware County Community College offers an 
associate in Technical Studies; West Chester and Thomas Edison Universities offer bachelor’s 
degrees in Technical Studies, and Widener University offers a program in Professional and Applied 
Studies. These programs enable students to receive college credit for their prior learning, 
certifications, and/ or experiences.  Allegheny Community College offers a five-year joint program 

69



 

combining an electrician apprenticeship with the general education coursework and coursework 
applicable to the field.  This program is sponsored by the Joint Apprenticeship and Training 
Committee (JATC) of the International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers (IBEW Local #5). Although 
the expected job growth projections and the educational attainment statistics of these occupations 
may not entice people in the field to enroll in an associate’s program, a joint program similar to 
Allegheny’s program, sponsored by a local union would incentivize enrollment. 

 
Table 7: Expected Job Growth  

 
2014-2024 Job Outlook 

 
Occupation 

 
Philadelphia 

 
MSA 

 
USA 

Av. Yearly 
Salary 

Avionics Technicians 2.50% (167) 5.4% (431) 8.10% (17,354) $51,820 
Aircraft Mechanics and Service Technicians 1.90% (943) 5% (1830) 8.50% (119442) $53,820 
Electricians 21.20% (1366) 13.70% (10,194) 16.90% (589,305) $48,560 
Commercial Pilot 4.90% (228) 4.4% (509) 15.70% (38,366) $71,600 
Plumbers, Pipefitters, and Steamfitters -0.70% (1033) 16.60% (6,754) 20.00% (393,485) $48,260 

Nationwide Average   11%  
 

MSA includes the following counties: Philadelphia, Montgomery, Bucks, Delaware, New Castle, Camden, Chester, Burlington, 
Gloucester, Cecil (MD), and Salem 

 
Table 8: Educational Attainment 

National Education Attainment 
 

 
Occupation 

HS Diploma 
or Less 

Some 
College 

 

 
Associate's 

 

 
Bachelor's 

 

 
Graduate 

Avionics Technicians 27.90% 36.70% 21.90% 9.40% 4.00% 
Aircraft Mechanics and Service Technicians 30.00% 38.90% 20.70% 9.20% 1.30% 
Electricians 46.70% 32.50% 13.60% 6.30% 0.90% 
Commercial Pilot 5.30% 14.10% 8.60% 59.10% 12.90% 
Plumbers, Pipefitters, and Steamfitters 63.00% 25.70% 6.90% 3.60% 0.70% 

 
VIII. Operating Cost 
During three out of the past four years, Applied Studies/Technical Studies’ average operating 
cost has been lower than the Division and the College. During the 2010-2011 school year, the 
Program’s average costs were marginally higher than the Division and lower than the College. 

70



 

Figure 3: Program Costs 
 
 
 
 

$4,000.00 

 
 
 

Cost Per FTE 

 
$3,800.00 

 
$3,600.00 

 
$3,400.00 

 
$3,200.00 

 
$3,000.00  

2009-2010 2010-2011 2011-2012 2012-2013 
 

Applied Studies Liberal Studies College 
 

 
 

VIII. Findings & Recommendations 
 

1. Evaluate the overlap between Technical Studies and Applied Science and Engineering 
Technology. 
Technical Studies is intended to serve students transitioning or becoming credentialed mid- 
career. Applied Science and Engineering Technology is geared to workforce entry, and stackable 
credits towards an associate’s degree. Over the past year, both underwent program revisions 
and the audit process simultaneously. These revisions introduced curricular changes that 
improved both programs, but also introduced increased congruency, in that both programs now 
offer credit for prior learning in the technical field, and share a technical curricular track. This 
overlap has the potential to create duplicative work for the faculty and confusion for students 
interested in a technical field. 

 
It is recommended that the programs create a proposal for increasing coordination or 
distinction. This could include, but is not limited to: housing the programs in the same 
department, combining the programs, or leaving the programs as they are but with increased 
partnership. The Programs should continue to monitor the impact of the program revisions in 
order to clarify the distinctions between the two programs and confirm that a distinction has 
been achieved. 

Timeline: Fall 2016 
Persons Responsible: Division Deans and Program Contacts 

 
2. Create a program management plan for this population 
This Program enrolls a unique population of students compared to the rest of the College. 
Generally, students at the College enroll in programs that provide them with the skills necessary 
to obtain employment.  Alternatively, this Program enrolls students that already have 
certifications and technical skills, but are lacking in general education. The Program enables 
students to combine these qualifications with general education courses and other relevant 
coursework in order to obtain an associate’s degree. Because this Program recruits students 

71



 

who pursue an education through a non-traditional route (obtain job skills before general 
education), these students require much more individualized advising in order to mold their 
personal education plan to their specific needs compared to traditional students.  Additionally, 
students generally discover the program through word of mouth, through their employment or 
trade school, not through traditional recruitment tactics.  The program must develop a program 
management plan that addresses the unique needs of these students including how to recruit 
the students. This Program management plan could include the creation of a joint sponsorship 
with local industries in order to increase the program pipeline and the hiring of a coordinator to 
develop these relationships and give the students the individualized advising that they need. 

Timeline: Spring 2017 
Persons Responsible: Division Deans and Program Contacts 

 
3. Create a student tracking system to determine factors influencing attrition and retention. 
Applied Studies/Technical Studies students generally have technical skills, are older, are less 
likely to place developmentally, and are more likely to attend part-time due to other obligations. 
These students are less likely to leave the College unsuccessfully compared to students in the 
Division and the College. However, these students are more likely than students in the Division 
and the College to depart in good academic standing prior to graduating.  The Program appears 
to attract students capable of obtaining the degree, but who do not complete the degree due to 
a variety of factors. 

 
The program needs to investigate the reasons for poor retention and create a plan to address 
retention and low enrollment. 

Timeline: Fall 2016 
Persons Responsible: Division Dean and Program Contacts 

72



COMMUNITY COLLEGE OF PHILADELPHIA 
Division for Strategic Initiatives 

 
 
 
 
 
MEMORANDUM 
 
To: Student Outcomes Committee of the Board 
 
From: Judith Gay and Samuel Hirsch 
 
Date: May 5, 2016 
 
Subject: Update on Strategic Planning 
 
 
The following is an update on our progress thus far related to the College’s Strategic Plan: 
 
February  

• A Cabinet retreat with Dr. Generals was held on February 25th.   The outcome of the 
retreat was a rough draft of a plan for leadership of strategic planning, a timeline and a 
process.  Dr. Generals asked Judith Gay and Sam Hirsch to co-lead the strategic planning 
effort. 

March 
• At the first Cabinet meeting in March, Cabinet members agreed to potential members for 

the leadership team and refined some of the ideas from the retreat.  
• A communication to the College community announced the start of strategic planning. 
• The co-chairs of the union were given the opportunity to appoint two members to the 

strategic planning leadership team and to respond to potential faculty representatives 
recommended by the Cabinet. 

• Invitations were sent to those identified for the leadership team and all responded 
positively. 

• Meeting dates for the leadership team were identified for the semester.  The leadership 
team met during the month and refined many of the ideas for the planning effort. 

• A communication was sent to the College community identifying the leadership team and 
encouraging participation. 

April 
• The leadership team continued to meet and develop strategies for engaging stakeholders 

in the planning effort. 

73



• A mission survey was created and distributed to faculty, administrators and staff.  
Students were not polled initially because of other surveys that were required.  Students 
received the mission survey at the end of April. 

• There was an update on the strategic planning effort at a Town Hall meeting. 
• The Facilities Master Planning group held forums for the College community. 
• There was a brainstorming session with interested external parties to discuss the creation 

of the Institute for Community Engagement and Civic Leadership.  
• A survey was created and distributed to faculty, administrators and staff.  The survey will 

be sent to Board of Trustees and Foundation Board members in May.   The survey is an 
attempt to validate institutional priorities to ensure a shared vision for the College 
moving forward.  It is also a means of understanding the College community’s perception 
of progress on priorities. 

• On April 28th members of the leadership team facilitated forums for members of the 
College community using questions they created that were reviewed by the Cabinet. 

May 
• Dr. Generals held a discussion with community members at each regional center using 

questions provided by the strategic planning leadership group. 

 

74



 

                    AACC PATHWAYS PROJECT 
Program Map Template 

 
INSTRUCTIONS:  This mapping template is not intended to be student-facing but instead a 
working document for the programs and departments at the institution.  Since many people (students, 
faculty, counselors, and external stakeholders) will access the program maps, we recommend having 
a consistent format for all programs at the institution. This template outlines the essential elements for 
program maps. Revise as needed this to fit your institution. Good examples of program maps can be 
found on the websites of the following institutions: 

• Arizona State University  
• Queensborough Community College  
• City Colleges of Chicago  

 
Maps serve as the default template for a full-program education plan that each student should be 
required to develop (with an advisor) and follow -- and that students and college personnel will use to 
track their progress toward completion.  Advisors will help students customize their plans based on 
the maps.  We recommend creating default maps for key groups of students served by your 
institution.  For example: 

- Full-time college-ready 
- Part-time college-ready 
- Full-time with remediation needs 
- Part-time with remediation needs 

For the default maps, we recommend defining full-time as 15 credits (since this will allow completion 
in 4 semesters) and part-time as 8 credits.  Again, each student will customize his or her map, but we 
recommend starting with a recommended default map.   

 
NAME OF PROGRAM OF STUDY: 
 
EXPECTED CERTIFICATE/DEGREE (Total Number of Units):  
 
 
PROGRAM DESCRIPTION:  Prepare a brief narrative about the program or area of interest. If 
possible, include the skills and competencies that students will develop (e.g., student learning 
outcomes and program outcomes). 
 
CAREER OPPORTUNITIES:  Provide detailed information about the kinds of jobs graduates 
from this program can secure, including job titles, sample job descriptions, and earnings information.  
Collaborate employers and local economic development organizations to collect this information. Also 

75

https://webapp4.asu.edu/programs/t5/undergrad/false?init=false&nopassive=true
http://www.qcc.cuny.edu/academics/index.html
http://www.ccc.edu/programs/Pages/default.aspx


 

list jobs in this field that require further education beyond the given program.  Describe the further 
education programs (with specific examples) that students could enter to pursue such jobs.  For 
example, a certificate or associate degree program for teachers’ assistants would indicate that a 
bachelor’s degree is needed to become a full-fledged teacher and would identify specific bachelor’s 
programs (pointing to the transfer information below).  
 
 
PROGRAM REQUIREMENTS:  List the specific courses by name and code for each academic 
term. Specify which courses are required and which courses are electives. If known, add which terms 
the courses are offered as well as lists of a) recommended general education core courses relevant 
to the program, b) recommended electives and c) pre-requisite courses in the sequence. 
 
FIRST SEMESTER 
 
Code Course 

Name 
Units Milestones Policies/structures 

needed to support 
student progression 

   - Critical courses (use a 
symbol to identify) 

- Minimum GPA requirements 
- Applied learning (e.g., 

internships, field work, 
clinical placements, etc.)  

- Transfer application 
preparation 

- Financial aid activities 

 
   
   
   

Total 15 
 
SECOND SEMESTER 
 
Code Course 

Name 
Units Milestones Policies/structures 

needed to support 
student progression 

   - Critical courses (use a 
symbol to identify) 

- Minimum GPA requirements 
- Applied learning (e.g., 

internships, field work, 
clinical placements, etc.) 

- Transfer application 
preparation 

- Financial aid activities 

-  
   
   
   

Total 15 
 
 
 
 
 

76



 

THIRD SEMESTER 
 
Code Course 

Name 
Units Milestones Policies/structures 

needed to support 
student progression 

   - Critical courses (use a 
symbol to identify) 

- Minimum GPA requirements 
- Applied learning (e.g., 

internships, field work, 
clinical placements, etc.)   

- Transfer application 
preparation 

- Financial aid activities 

-  
   
   
   

Total 15 
 
 
 
 
FOURTH SEMESTER 
 
Code Course 

Name 
Units Milestones Policies/structures 

needed to support 
student progression 

   - Critical courses (use a 
symbol to identify) 

- Minimum GPA requirements 
- Applied learning (e.g., 

internships, field work, 
clinical placements, etc.) 

- Transfer application 
preparation 

- Financial aid activities 

-  
   
   
   

Total 15 
 
 
TRANSFER PATHS AND REQUIREMENTS 
 

• Transfer program options 
• Common requirements; university and program-specific requirements. 
• Sample junior and senior course sequence 

 
 
  

77



 

 
ONCE COMPLETED, THE PROGRAM MAPS FOR STUDENTS/ADVISORS 
SHOULD ANSWER THE FOLLOWING QUESTIONS: 
 

• What are my career options?  Are there careers in this region?  How much will I make? 
• What general education courses are recommended? 
• What elective courses are recommended? 
• What are the critical courses that students need to complete successfully in order to be 

successful in the program? 
• What is the mathematics requirement (“the right math”) for the program of study? 
• What courses should I take and when? 
• Are there selective admissions requirements for the program? If so, what are they and how 

can I best prepare for admission? 
• Will I have opportunities to do applied/ work-based learning or service learning? 
• How long will it take to complete the program?  Full-time?  Part-time? 
• How much will it cost to complete the program? 
• What are the financial aid options? 
• Will my credits transfer?  Apply? At which institutions in the state? 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

78



MEETING OF THE BUSINESS AFFAIRS COMMITTEE 
OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

Community College of Philadelphia  
Monday, May 23, 2016 – 9:00 A.M. - Isadore A. Shrager Boardroom, M2-1 

 
Present for Executive Session:  Mr. Jeremiah J. White, Jr., presiding; Mr. Matthew Bergheiser 

via teleconference, Ms. Suzanne Biemiller, Mr. Steve Herzog, Ms. Lydia 
Hernandez Velez, Mr. Willie Johnson via teleconference, Dr. Donald Generals, 
Ms. Carol de Fries, Mr. Jacob Eapen, Dr. Judith Gay, Ms. Marsia Henley, Mr. 
James P. Spiewak, Victoria Zellers, Esq., and Guests:  Anthony Forte, Esq., 
Attorney for 15th and Hamilton Street Project and Mr. Jim Tucker, Consultant for 
15th and Hamilton Street Project 

 
 

AGENDA - EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 

Items dealing with Real Estate Matter and Collective Bargaining Negotiations were 
discussed.   
 
 

AGENDA - PUBLIC SESSION 
 

Present for Public Session: Mr. Jeremiah J. White, Jr., presiding; Mr. Matthew Bergheiser via 
teleconference, Ms. Suzanne Biemiller, Mr. Steve Herzog, Stella Tsai, Esq. via 
teleconference, Dr. Donald Generals, Mr. Jacob Eapen, Dr. Samuel Hirsch, Mr. 
Todd E. Murphy, Mr. James P. Spiewak, and Victoria Zellers, Esq. 

 
 

(1) Review of Grant Budget Report (Information Item) 

 
Mr. Murphy provided a brief report on the items contained in Attachment A:  A Grant 

Fiscal Report that included the new and continuing grants, the purpose of grants, and the 
number of employees funded.  The Foundation assets, as well as the annual scholarships 
awarded are a part of the report.  The report also outlines the cost of staff, the percent of time 
staff worked, as well as the role each staff member plays.   

 
Ms. Biemiller asked for clarification concerning the amount of revenue generated for the 

College and the expenses of the Institutional Advancement Office.  She expressed concern that 
the total amount raised to support the College was close to the same as the expenses for the 
office.  Ms. Biemiller also suggested that the Foundation and Office of Institutional 
Advancement look at appropriate measures to ensure more increased revenues that will benefit 
the College.  Dr. Generals noted that there are new strategies being employed to generate 
additional revenues and that the Foundation Board is in a strategic planning phase and also 
planning for a new comprehensive campaign.  A more precise plan will be available later in the 
year.  In response to a question from Mr. Herzog, Dr. Generals replied that there are ongoing 
conversations concerning the amount of net revenue that should be produced by the 
Institutional Advancement Office. 
 

79



(2) 2015-16 Budget Update (Information Item): 
 
 Mr. Eapen and Mr. Spiewak provided an overview of the College’s budget status for 
fiscal year 2015-16.  Mr. Eapen noted that the revised projection is similar to the previous 
updates; however, student tuition is lower due to the early summer session having enrollments 
below budget. 
 
(3) Proposed 2016-17 Business Affairs Committee Meeting Dates (Information 

Item): 
 

In order to facilitate Board calendar planning, Committees are asked to establish a 
meeting calendar for the year.  Proposed meeting dates for 2016-17 are as follows: 

 
No meetings are held in July & August.  However, if a matter arises 
that is critical, a meeting or phone conference will be held. 
 

 Wednesday, September 21, 2016 – 10:00 a.m.  
 Wednesday, October 19, 2016 – 10:00 a.m. 
 Wednesday, November 16, 2016 – 10:00 a.m. 
 No meeting in December 2016 
 Wednesday, January 18, 2017 – 10:00 a.m. 
 No meeting in February 2017 
 Wednesday, March 22, 2017 – 10:00 a.m. 
 Wednesday, April 19, 2017 – 10:00 a.m. 
 Wednesday, May 17, 2017 – 10:00 a.m. 
 Wednesday, June 21, 2017 – 10:00 a.m. 
 

(4) Next Meeting Date: 
 

The next regularly scheduled meeting of the Committee is scheduled for Wednesday, 
June 22, 2016 at 10:00 A.M. in the Isadore A. Shrager Boardroom, M2-1.  Board members 
discussed possible moving this date back. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
JE/lm 
Attachments 
 

80



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ATTACHMENT A 
 

REVIEW OF GRANT BUDGET REPORT 

81



Exhibit 1A

OPERATING EXPENSES
Activity Based Activity Based Annual

Institutional Advancement  Split  - IA Split - Fnd. FY'16

Salaries (Staff of 14) 590,166$             469,005$           1,059,171$        
Fringes (40%) 236,066                187,602              423,668              
Materials/Services/Other 160,920                30,000                190,920              
   Total 987,152$             686,607$           1,673,759$        

GRANT REVENUE TO COLLEGE College College
Number Grant$ Administrative Indirect Cost 

Grants held by College of Grants FY'16 Support FY'16 FY'16

New Grants Awarded - (10.27 FTEs) 9 941,094$           29,346$              69,994$               
Continuing Grants - (19.15 FTEs) 14 4,464,991          434,107              176,445               

   Total 23 5,406,085$        463,453$           246,439$             

Private Grants held by Foundation

New Grants Awarded - (0 FTEs) 3 107,000$           -$                    6,818$                  
Continuing Grants - (6.58 FTEs) 7 1,512,553          55,556                107,604               

   Total 10 1,619,553$        55,556$              114,422$             

Summary - Grants
Total New Grants Revenue 12 1,048,094$        29,346$              76,812$               
Total Continuing Grants Revenue 21 5,977,544          489,663              284,049               

Grand Total All Grants 33 7,025,638$        519,009$           360,861$             

OTHER FUNDS AND ASSETS

Number YTD Projected Projected
Funds Transferred To The College of Funds 4/30/2016 5/1 - 6/30/16 Total

Endowments - Scholarships, faculty chair, etc. 72 101,118$           198,882$           300,000$             
Restricted - Scholarships and Student Aid 57 460,188              9,405                  469,593               
Restricted - Capital, Comprehensive Campaign 5 101,699              -                      101,699               
Unrestricted - Support to College 3 103,000              -                      103,000               
Restricted - Other 35 128,283              1,717                  130,000               

   Total 172 894,288$           210,004$           1,104,292$          

Assets Held By Foundation FY14 - 6/30/14 FY15 - 6/30/15 YTD 4/30/16
Endowment 8,415,537$          8,953,083$        8,860,394$        
Non-Endowment 1,866,418$          1,356,572$        1,442,853$        

10,281,955$        10,309,655$      10,303,247$      

Projected
Fiscal Year Summary YTD 4/30/16 Total YE FY16

College Support Current Year 1,774,158$          1,984,162$        

Notes:

*  'Administrative Support'  refers to Grant funds used to offset Administrative College Salaries
*  'Indirect Cost' refers to the amount Grant funds reimburse general Administrative and Overhead College expenses
*  The Foundation categories 'Unrestricted'  and 'Restricted - Other' consist of unrestricted funds, event revenue and other unrestricted donations
*  Foundation 'Support to College' refers to yearly amount given to the College to offset operating costs, and support of Foundation mini- and micro-grants
*  Institutional Advancement holds all Federal, State and Local governmental grants.  The Foundation holds all private grants.
*  Federal and State grants provide a fringe benefit rate of 30%.  This differs materially from the College actual rate (42-45%).
* 'Assets Held By Foundation' trails a reporting month.  YTD April figures are directly from monthly statements and have not yet been reconciled
* 'College Support Current Year' is calculated using current year total 'Other Funds' support as well as current year Administrative and Indirect totals 
   This total does not include grant award funds used for programmatic support.
* Salary Expenses are all budgeted within IA.  The splits are based on percentages of estimated activity between IA and Foundation at the employee level

COMMUNITY COLLEGE OF PHILADELPHIA
Foundation and Office of Institutional Advancement

Operating Expenses and Fundraising Revenue FY2016

82



Exhibit 1B

OPERATING EXPENSES
Activity Based Activity Based Annual

Institutional Advancement  Split  - IA Split - Fnd. FY'15

Salaries (Staff of 14) 637,310$              454,627$            1,091,937$        
Fringes (40%) 254,924                181,851              436,775              
Materials/Services/Other 152,000                32,000                184,000              
   Total 1,044,234$           668,478$            1,712,712$        

Foundation

Salaries (stipends for one staff) -$                       6,000$                6,000$                
   Total -$                       6,000$                6,000$                

   Grand Total IA and Foundation: 1,044,234$           674,478$            1,718,712$        

GRANT REVENUE TO COLLEGE College College
Number Grant$ Administrative Indirect Cost 

Grants held by College of Grants FY'15 Support FY'15 FY'15

New Grants Awarded - ( 0 FTEs) 5 656,340$            28,857$              47,112$                
Continuing Grants - (Prior Award - 65 FTEs) 16 6,294,421           437,448              189,111                

   Total 21 6,950,761$        466,305$            236,223$              

Grants held by Foundation

New Grants Awarded - ( 0.5 FTEs) 4 111,398$            -$                     -$                       
Continuing Grants - (Prior Award - 10.5 FTEs) 7 1,565,708           55,556                112,891                

   Total 11 1,677,106$        55,556$              112,891$              

Summary - Grants
Total New Grants Revenue 9 767,738$            28,857$              47,112$                
Total Continuing Grants Revenue 23 7,860,129           493,004              302,002                

Grand Total All Grants 32 8,627,867$        521,861$            349,114$              

OTHER FUNDS AND ASSETS

Number YTD Projected Projected
Funds Transferred To The College of Funds 3/31/2015 4/1 - 6/30/15 Total

Endowments - Scholarships, faculty chair, etc. 71 117,339$            182,661$            300,000$              
Restricted - Scholarships and Student Aid 75 194,773              30,227                225,000                
Restricted - Capital, Comprehensive Campaign 4 675                      199,325              200,000                
Unrestricted - Support to College 3 38,873                100,000              138,873                
Restricted - Other 31 56,262                143,738              200,000                

   Total 184 407,922$            655,951$            1,063,873$          

Assets Held By Foundation (non-grant) FY14 - 6/30/14 YTD 2/28/15
Endowment 8,415,537$           8,204,491$        
Non-Endowment 1,468,828$           1,149,994$        

9,884,365$           9,354,485$        

Fiscal Year Summary YTD 3/31/15 Total YE FY15

College Support Current Year 1,278,897$           1,934,848$        

Notes:

*  'Administrative Support'  refers to Grant funds used to offset Administrative College Salaries
*  'Indirect Cost' refers to the amount Grant funds reimburse general Administrative and Overhead College expenses
*  The Foundation categories 'Unrestricted'  and 'Restricted - Other' consist of unrestricted funds, event revenue and other unrestricted donations
*  Foundation 'Support to College' refers to yearly amount given to the College to offset operating costs, and support of Foundation mini- and micro-grants
*  Institutional Advancement holds all Federal, State and Local governmental grants.  The Foundation holds all private grants.
*  Federal and State grants provide a fringe benefit rate of 30%.  This differs materially from the College actual rate (42-45%).
* 'Assets Held By Foundation' trails a reporting month and is as of 2/28/15
* 'College Support Current Year' is calculated using current year total 'Other Funds' support as well as current year Administrative and Indirect totals 
   This total does not include grant award funds used for programmatic support.
* Salary Expenses are all budgeted within IA.  The splits are based on percentages of estimated activity between IA and Foundation at the employee level

COMMUNITY COLLEGE OF PHILADELPHIA
Foundation and Office of Institutional Advancement
Operating Expenses and Fundraising Revenue FY'15

83



       Exhibit 2 
 

 
NOTES:          

• Indicated for each staff member is the estimated amount of time spent on Institutional Advancement and/or College Foundation activities.   
• Grant staff are designated 100% to Institutional Advancement as all dollars raised through grants are revenue to the College.   

 

Gregory Murphy
Vice President, Institutional 
Advancement and Executive 

Director, CCP Foundation
IA - 50% / Foundation - 50%

Jean Kemper
Asst VP, Institutional 

Advancement  and Director,   
CCP Foundation

IA - 30% / Foundation - 70%

Karin LoVullo
Manager, Research and Data
IA - 40% / Foundation - 60%

Denise Solomon
Technical Craft Specialist

IA - 50% / Foundation - 50%

Patti Conroy
Director, Scholarships

IA - 40% / Foundation - 60%

Barbara McKenna
Development Specialist, 

Scholarships 
IA - 100%

Michael Rice
Office Admin. Asst.

IA - 100%

Kristen Starr
Director, Grants 

and Strategic Philanthropy

IA - 100%

Emily Thomas
Coordinator, Grants

IA - 100%

Anne Greco
Grants Compliance  Officer

IA  - 100%

Kevin Peter
Director, Fundraising Initiatives

IA - 80% / Foundation  - 20%

Anne McGrath
Development Officer

(Communications/Events)
IA - 20% / Foundation - 80%

Darryl Irizarry, Jr.
Coordinator, Annual Fund 

and Alumni Relations
IA - 80% / Foundation - 20%

Lyvette Jones
Major Gifts Officer
Foundation - 100%

VACANT
Technical Craft Specialist

IA - 50% / Foundation - 50%

84



  Exhibit 3 
 

COMMUNITY COLLEGE OF PHILADELPHIA 
Office of Institutional Advancement / College Foundation 

 
 
Functional Responsibilities 
 
• Fundraising 

Strengthen and broaden the fundraising scope of the Division through the development of new sources of 
revenue, enhancements to annual fund and planned giving, and implementation of targeted efforts to raise 
funds for specific initiatives, e.g. 50th Anniversary Scholarship fund, discretionary scholarship endowment 
fund, etc. 
 
Direct fundraising strategies include: 

o Annual fund 
o Planned giving 
o Individual and major gifts 
o Corporate and foundation gifts and grants 
o Public grants 
o Special fundraising events 
o Comprehensive campaign 

 
Support functions for fundraising include: 

o Cultivation 
o Stewardship 
o Development communications (print, social media, etc.) 
o Database management and data analytics  
o Prospect research and development 

 
• Foundation Management 

o Increase the effectiveness of the Foundation and its board members as a more cohesive fundraising 
arm of the College. 

o Manage the assets of the Foundation, ensure fiscal responsibility and compliance.  
 

• Scholarship Development and Management 
o Build existing scholarship funds and develop new scholarships 
o Ensure donor intent is met in the selection, award and disbursement of scholarships.  

 
• Alumni Relations 

Develop an alumni relations program that increases engagement of alumni and supports fundraising efforts. 
 
 
 

Organizational Chart 
 
Attached is the organization chart for Institutional Advancement.  Indicated for each staff member is the amount 
of time spent on Institutional Advancement and/or College Foundation activities. 
 
Grant staff are designated 100% to Institutional Advancement as all dollars raised through grants are revenue to 
the College.   

85



COMMUNITY COLLEGE OF PHILADELPHIA
GRANT DETAIL EXHIBIT 4
FY16

AWARD SALARY OPERATING FISCAL SOURCE FUNDING FINANCE MANAGER INDIRECT
PROJECT TITLE MISSION/GOAL AMOUNT STAFF AMOUNT BUDGET RELIEF PERIOD OF FUNDS CLASSIFICATION PROJECT DIRECTOR COST

STUDENT FACULTY To support 2 study abroad trips for 6 faculty and 9 students per trip. 37,500.00$          NA NA NA 7/01/15-06/30/16 Ambrose-Monell Private Kristi Bergman
INTERNATIONAL FELLOWS Fay Beauchamp

Outcomes: Study tours scheduled for May 2016.

TRIO STUDENT SUPPORT 257,087.00$        2 full-time 112,953.00$        NA 09/01/15-08/31/16 US Dept of Education Direct Federal Joan Bush 18,309.00$      
SERVICES YEAR 1 2 part-time 5,600.00$            Marline Paramour

1 classified 41,964.00$          

Fringe Benefits 46,748.00$          

TRIO UPWARD BOUND 293,163.00$        2 full-time 95,432.00$          NA 9/1/15-8/31/16 US Dept of Education Direct Federal David Thomas 17,879.00$      
YEAR 5 5 part-time 19,345.00$          Aimee Contarino

1 classified 36,000.00$          
1 student 1,500.00$            
4 tutors 14,700.00$          

Fringe Benefits 40,875.00$          

AMP PHASE V, YEAR 2 23,694.00$          1 extended time 5,192.00$            NA 08/01/15-07/31/16 National Science Federal through Mary Ann Celenza 3,048.00$        
Foundation Drexel Linda Powell

Fringe Benefits 221.00$                

Outcomes: Direct financial support to 100 students.

EISENHOWER COMMUNITY Supports students interested in the field of transportation. 30,000.00$          NA NA NA 09/01/15-09/01/16 US Dept of Federal Highway Richard Saxton NA
COLLEGE FELLOWSHIP Transportation Administration

Outcomes: 6 fellowships of $5,000 in 2015-16.

PREDOMINANTLY BLACK 579,509.00$        2 full-time 94,092.00$          10/01/15-09/30/16 US Dept of Education Direct Federal Sam Hirsch NA
INSTITUTIONS FORMULA 4 extended time 26,467.00$          Sam Hirsch
GRANT - YEAR 5 6 stipends 7,200.00$            

14 students 31,898.00$          
2 learning lab 1,344.00$           

Fringe Benefits 31,816.00$          66.00$                 

PBI- CENTER FOR MALE 600,000.00$        6 full-time 283,738.00$        10/01/15-09/30/16 US Dept of Education Direct Federal Sam Hirsch 44,444.00$      
ENGAGEMENT - YEAR 1 1 classified 26,530.00$          Donavan McCargo

2 part-time 8,400.00$            
3 students 2,808.00$            
8 learning lab 28,149.00$         

Fringe Benefits 95,719.00$          1,197.00$           

Supports ongoing efforts to increase enrollment, academic success, 
retention, and graduation rates, with a focus on underserved students and 
those most at-risk for not completing a degree. Specifically supports 
veterans, ex-offenders, developmental students and those identified as at-
risk by Starfish, as well as technology improvements.  

Outcomes: In 2014-15, the grant support Starfish implementation; had 
6,025 contacts with veterans; 16 incarcerated students were served; peer 
tutoring and developmental support was provided.

Supports the Center for Male Engagement, which provides intensive and 
intrusive supports targeted to first-time-in-college African American males 
with the goal of increasing persistence and success.

Outcomes: Current enrollment is 363 of which 102 are new in 2015.  Fall-to-
spring retention for new students exceeds College rates.

Serves 225 students annually through support services that improve 
persistence an education outcomes for low-income students. This is the 
College's 5th consecutive 5-year TRIO SSS grant.

Outcomes: Compared to comparable non-participating students, year-to-
year retention and good academic standing rates are higher.  Almost 100% 
of students transfer.

Serves 66 students from four persistently low-achieving high schools to 
provide academic skills and motivation necessary for persistence in 
secondary and postsecondary education.  This is the College's fourth 
consecutive five-year TRIO Upward Bound grant.

Outcomes: In 2014-15, 95% of students retained or graduated and 73% of 
eligible students entered postsecondary education

Subcontracted through Drexel, the AMP program supports first-year STEM 
students through mentoring and scholarship support and reaches over 
1,000 through speakers and broader activities.

86



COMMUNITY COLLEGE OF PHILADELPHIA
GRANT DETAIL EXHIBIT 4
FY16

AWARD SALARY OPERATING FISCAL SOURCE FUNDING FINANCE MANAGER INDIRECT
PROJECT TITLE MISSION/GOAL AMOUNT STAFF AMOUNT BUDGET RELIEF PERIOD OF FUNDS CLASSIFICATION PROJECT DIRECTOR COST

LOCAL PLAN 2015-2016 1,356,522.00$    Disabilities Asst 16,757.00           07/01/15-06/30/16 Commonwealth of PA Federal via State Sam Hirsch 12,538.00$      
PT Learning Lab 80,000.00           Sam Hirsch
LL SPECIALIST 45% 40,829.00           
LL SPECIALIST 30% 21,932.00           
LL SPECIALIST 40% 32,846.00           
LL SPECIALIST 50% 30,808.00           
LL SPECIALIST 40% 26,104.00           
Disabilities 45,000.00           
Fringe Benefits 68,179.00           

RAISING INTEREST IN STEM 224,149.00$        6 extended time 8,983.00$            10,267.00$         10/01/15-09/30/16 US Dept of Education Direct Federal Mary Ann Celenza 11,670.00$      
(RISE) YEAR 3 1 part-time 23,479.00$          Linda Powell

13 stipends 4,000.00$            5,150.00$           
3 students 2,250.00$            
4 tutors
8 grad students 32,120.00$          
4 learning lab 11,588.00$         

fringe benefits 3,447.00$            4,134.00$           

THE BIG READ 11,600.00$          NA 09/01/15-08/31/16 National Endowment Federal Pass Through Kristi Bergman 2,366.00$        
for the Arts National Endowment Tabitha Morgan

for the Arts

WORKFORCE INNOVATION FUND 17,599.00$          01/01/16 - 06/30/16 US Dept. of Labor Federal Pass through Carol de Fries
Waverly Coleman

NEW FACES 15,308.00$          08/15/15 - 07/30/16 US Dept of Health Federal David Thomas 4,875.00$        
and Human Services DeAndre Jones

NATIONAL RESOURCE CENTER Kristi Bergman
SOUTH ASIA 8,500.00$            08/15/15 - 08/14/16 US Dept of Education Federal Fay Beauchamp NA

Outcomes: 8 additional participants; play held in January 2016.

Outcomes: Help 18 events across the City, almost 500 individuals 
participated in events.

Develop a series of microcredentials designed to help un- and under-
employed and low-skills individuals enter the workforce.

Partnership with 1199c Training and Upgrade Fund and Roxborough H.S. to 
create an open, accessible culture of STEM project-based learning.  The 
College provides secondary faculty development and college readiness 
workshops.

Support additional faculty participants in the Bridging Cultures and Trans-
Regional projects, and support production of a play focused on South Asia.

Support the 7,000+ students in Career and Technical Education (CTE) 
programs through faculty support, learning lab support, support for 
individuals with disabilities, increased connections to employers and 
significant equipment and supplies purchases necessary for technical 
education.

Outcomes: Exceeded State performance levels in technical skill attainment, 
students retention/transfer and participation and completion among non-
traditional populations.

Provide support to STEM students at three levels: developmental, pre-
majors in 100-level science and math courses, and students in upper level 
STEM courses, with ultimate goal of making long-term improvements in 
STEM education.

Outcomes: Provided tutoring in STEM areas, faculty professional 
development and creation of learning videos for students; 8 students 
participated in summer research experience at Drexel.

Provide a month-long series of activities and workshops focused on the 
works of Edgar Allen Poe.

87



COMMUNITY COLLEGE OF PHILADELPHIA
GRANT DETAIL EXHIBIT 4
FY16

AWARD SALARY OPERATING FISCAL SOURCE FUNDING FINANCE MANAGER INDIRECT
PROJECT TITLE MISSION/GOAL AMOUNT STAFF AMOUNT BUDGET RELIEF PERIOD OF FUNDS CLASSIFICATION PROJECT DIRECTOR COST

NATIONAL RESOURCE CENTER 6,000.00$            08/15/15 - 08/14/16 US Dept of Education Federal Kristi Bergman NA
MIDDLE EAST Fay Beauchamp

GEAR UP 15,000.00$          NA NA NA 07/07/15-08/05/15 US Dept of Education Federal David Thomas NA

ATE BIOMEDICAL EQUIPMENT 193,695.00$        3 extended time 42,203.00$          NA 09/01/15-08/31/16 National Science Direct Federal Mary Ann Celenza 25,141.00$      
TECH YEAR 2 Foundation Randy Libros

fringe benefits 9,562.00$            

Outcomes: 22 students enrolled in first year; 2nd certificate approved.

NEH BRIDGING CULTURES 60,694.00$          2 extended time 22,428.00$          NA 09/01/15-08/31/16 National Endowment Federal pass Kristi Bergman 15,782.00$      
PROJECT YEAR 2 10 stipends 5,600.00$            for the Humanities through National Lakshmi Gudipati

Division of Education Endowment of the 
fringe benefits 1,191.00$            Programs Humanities

Outcomes: 8 junior faculty participated in year-long activities.

UNDERGRADUATE 94,940.00$          5 extended time 23,097.00$          10/01/15-09/30/16 US Dept of Education Direct Federal Kristi Bergman 7,033.00$        
INTERNATIONAL STUDIES 1 stipend 1,000.00$            Fay Beauchamp
YEAR 2 1 extended time 22,198.00$         

fringe benefits 1,173.00$            6,659.00$           

KEYS PROGRAM 15-16 550,684.00$        6 full-time 275,711.00$        NA 07/01/15-06/30/16 PA Dept of State David Thomas NA
1 classified 20,150.00$          Public Welfare Tamika Jordan
4 students 7,800.00$            

Outcome: In 2014-15, support provided to over 1,000 individuals.

GATEWAY TO COLLEGE 770,000.00$        6 full-time 295,120.00$        NA 07/01/15-06/30/16 School District of Federal David Thomas 77,000.00        
YEAR 3 1 classified 34,437.00$          Philadelphia through City Timeka Ford-Smith

4 part-time 7,500.00$            

fringe benefits 146,857.00$        

MASTERY EARLY COLLEGE 97,127.00$          3 part-time 3,639.00$           08/01/15-06/30/16 Mastery Charter Schools Private David Thomas 6,354.00$        
PARTNERSHIP PROGRAM 1 classified 3,210.00$           

Support additional faculty participants in Trans-Regional project and 
International Day activities.

Support 60 students in School District of Philadelphia's GEAR UP program to 
take college courses through the summer ACE program.

Funds support the development of two stackable proficiency certificates 
within the Applied Science and Engineering Technology degree that will 
prepare students for employment as biomedical equipment technicians 
and/or transfer to four-year institutions.

This faculty and curriculum development project will enable junior faculty 
teaching courses in the humanities to explore the mechanisms of 
negotiation of cultural difference through exploration of South Asia and to 
develop related materials to be infused in courses.

Support the provision of higher education services to individuals receiving 
TANF and SNAP benefits by providing the necessary services and supports 
to improve persistence and graduation.

Project enhances international studies, foreign language and study abroad 
programs at the College through a capacity building approach, focusing on 
faculty development, enhanced curricula, and study abroad opportunities 
in Japan and Tanzania.

Help 16-22 year old students that have left high school without earning a 
diploma return to education and gain a high school diploma issued by the 
School District while earning college credits.

Support high school seniors at Mastery Charter  Schools to enroll in section 
of appropriate developmental and/or college-level courses under the dual 

 

Outcomes: 100 students enrolled annually, exceed School District 
benchmarks for attendance and graduation.

88



COMMUNITY COLLEGE OF PHILADELPHIA
GRANT DETAIL EXHIBIT 4
FY16

AWARD SALARY OPERATING FISCAL SOURCE FUNDING FINANCE MANAGER INDIRECT
PROJECT TITLE MISSION/GOAL AMOUNT STAFF AMOUNT BUDGET RELIEF PERIOD OF FUNDS CLASSIFICATION PROJECT DIRECTOR COST

YEAR 3
fringe benefits 3,397.00$           

SINGLE STOP SITE 153,314.00$        2 full-time 65,139.00$          NA 04/01/16-03/31/17 Single Stop USA, Inc Private Sam Hirsch NA
YEAR 4

fringe benefits 22,199.00$          

Outcomes: Since 10/2013, over 3,000 screened for benefits and 1,700 tax 
returns filed.

SMOKE FREE CAMPUS To promote a smoke free environment on the CCP campus 10,000.00$          NA 04/01/15-03/31/17 Truth Initiative Private Jim Spiewak NA
Kristy Shuda McGuire

Total College 5,406,085.00$    2,084,644.00$    463,453.00$      246,439.00$    

AWARD SALARY OPERATING FISCAL SOURCE FUNDING FINANCE MANAGER INDIRECT
PROJECT TITLE MISSION/GOAL AMOUNT STAFF AMOUNT BUDGET RELIEF PERIOD OF FUNDS CLASSIFICATION PROJECT DIRECTOR COST

Foundation

19130 ZIP CODE 30,000.00$          1 full-time 24,548.00$          01/01/16-12/31/17 Independence Private Barbara McLaughlin NA
1 full-time Foundation Barbara McLaughlin

fringe benefits 5,452.00$            

WANNAMAKER SCHOLARS PROGRA 62,477.00$          8 Part -Time 24,824.00$          NA 9/30/15 - 9/30/16 annamaker Institute of Indust Private Jean Kemper NA
Vida Wright

Fringe Benefits 1,241.00$            

iPASS Year 1 75,000.00$          Stipend/Ext Time 1,265.00$            NA 9/8/15 - 9/7/18 Educause Private Sam Hirsh 6,818.00$        

Fringe Benefits 62.00$                  

LINDBACK DISTINGUISHED 
TEACHING Award one teacher the Lindback Distiguished Teaching Award 4,000.00$            1 stipend 4,000.00$            NA 9/6/15 - 8/22/16 Mary F. Lindback Foundation Private Jean Kemper NA
AWARD

Sarah Iepson was 2015-16 award winner.

1,397,096.00$    6 Full-Time 519,268.00$        4/1/16 - 3/31/17 Goldman Sachs Foundation Private Margaret Bradley 106,863.00$    

Continue suppor tfor health promotion/disease prevention services to 
vulnerable populations in the 19130 zip code by second year nursing 
students, and continue evaluating data using a tool developed by the 
College.

Provide instruction and certification for variouscareer focused programs

Work to integrate the various systems and technologies supporting 
students success to develop a seamless student experience and provide 
meaningful data to the College.

             
         

enrollment programs.

Support low-income students in accessing government benefits, free tax 
preparation, legal services, financial counseling and health care enrollment 
to enable them to remain in school and complete their education.

10,000 SMALL BUSINESSES YEAR 4 Intensive business and management education program for entrepreneurs 
          
 89



COMMUNITY COLLEGE OF PHILADELPHIA
GRANT DETAIL EXHIBIT 4
FY16

AWARD SALARY OPERATING FISCAL SOURCE FUNDING FINANCE MANAGER INDIRECT
PROJECT TITLE MISSION/GOAL AMOUNT STAFF AMOUNT BUDGET RELIEF PERIOD OF FUNDS CLASSIFICATION PROJECT DIRECTOR COST

9 Part-Time 68,443.00$          43,796.00$         Angelica Aguirre
3 Students 11,200.00$          
1 Classified 42,054.00$          

Outcomes: 287 business owners have completed through 9 cohorts. 5 Housekeeping 11,760.00$         

Fringe Benefits 249,637.00$        

FAIR FUTURES STRATEGIES 20,000.00$          1 Part Time 19,071.00$          NA 2/1/16 - 1/31/17 Local Initiatives Support Corp Private David Thomas NA
DeAndre Jones

Fringe Benefits 929.00$                

2015-2016 CONVEYOR BELT 10,000.00$          1 Part-Time 6,000.00$            NA 5/01/16 - 5/01/17 Bank of America Foundation Private Dave Thomas 741.00$            
PROGRAM Michelle Williams

Fringe Benefits 255.00$                

COMPLETION SCHOLARSHIPS Provide 4 student scholarships 12,000.00$          NA NA NA 5/4/15 - 5/31/16 One Main Financial Private Jean Kemper NA
Patti Conroy

IBC NURSES FOR TOMORROW Provide merit-based scholarships for nursing students. 6,480.00$            NA NA NA 9/8/15 - 6/7/16 Independence Blue Cross Private Barbara McLaughlin NA
SCHOLARSHIP 

SKILLS FOR AMERICA'S FUTURE 2,500.00$            NA NA NA 1/1/16 - 5/31/16 Gap Inc Private Patti Conroy NA
PROGRAM Donavan McCargo

Total  Foundation 1,619,553.00$    978,249.00$        55,556.00$         114,422.00$    

Total College and Foundation: 7,025,638.00$    3,062,893.00$    519,009.00$      360,861.00$    

Provide support to dual enrollment alternative high school students in the 
form of tuition, books, materials

Provide scholarships for students in the College's LEADS leadership 
development program.

Support ongoing GED/ABE program at the Dornsife Center in West 
Philadelphia through the provision of an academic mentor.

            
that supports business growth, enhancing job creation and stimulating the 
local economy.

90


	6.2.16tableofcontents
	agenda 6.2.16
	Proceedings5.5.16
	5.5.16BoardMinutes
	June '16 Gifts&Grants
	May 5 2016 Student Outcomes Committee Minutes
	Student Outcomes Committee Minutes 5-5-16
	SOC Draft Minutes April 7%2c 2016
	Applied Science Engineering Tech Audit SOC
	Technical Studies Audit SOC
	Memo to SOC re update to strategic Planning
	Pathways Program Mapping Template

	Business Affairs Committee Meeting Minutes May 23, 2016
	MAY 23, 2016 BAC MINUTES SECOND DRAFT.pdf
	Business Affairs Committee Meeting Minutes May 23, 2016
	MAY 23, 2016 BAC MINUTES SECOND DRAFT.pdf
	Business Affairs Committee Meeting Minutes May 23, 2016
	MAY 23, 2016 BAC MINUTES SECOND DRAFT
	Business Affairs Committee Meeting Minutes May 23, 2016
	MAY 23, 2016 BAC MINUTES SECOND DRAFT.pdf
	DRAFT Business Affairs Committee May 23rd Meeting Minutes
	FIRST PART Business Affairs Committee May 23rd Meeting Agenda.pdf
	Business Affairs Committee May 23rd Meeting Agenda.pdf

	FND~OIA~FY2016-051116v2TEM(1a).pdf
	Sheet1

	FND~OIA~FY15~0315v4(1b).pdf
	Sheet1

	Org Chart - IA office as of 4.30.2016-2.pdf
	Operating Expenses and Development Revenue[3].pdf
	BOARD PROSUM 5-18-16v4.pdf
	new and continuing









